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Value and Income Trust plc 

(Incorporated in Scotland under the Companies Acts with registered number SC050366) 

£15,000,000 11% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2021  

Issued by Audax Properties plc 

(Incorporated in England under the Companies Acts with registered number 02027379) 

On 7 August 1986, Audax Properties plc ("Audax") constituted £8,000,000 11 per cent. Debenture Stock 2021 (the "First Debenture Stock") 

and, on 23 March 1988, Audax constituted £7,000,000 11 per cent. Guaranteed Debenture Stock 2021 "A" (the "Second Debenture Stock").  

On 27 September 1991, the First Debenture Stock and the Second Debenture Stock became known as £15,000,000 11 per cent. First 

Mortgage Debenture Stock 2021 (the "2021 Debentures"), of which £15,000,000 will remain outstanding from the Effective Date.  On the 

Effective Date, Value and Income Trust plc (the "Issuer") will become the sole debtor in respect of the 2021 Debentures and Audax will cease 

to be an obligor in respect of the 2021 Debentures. 

Application will be made to the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") (the "UK Listing Authority") for the 2021 Debentures to be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority 

and to London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for such 2021 Debentures to be admitted to trading on the London Stock 

Exchange's main market for listed securities ("Admission"), which is a regulated market for the purposes of EU Directive 2003/71/EC, as 

amended by EU Directive 2010/73/EU (the "Prospectus Directive") and relevant implementing measures in the United Kingdom.  It is 

expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the 2021 Debentures will commence on the London Stock Exchange at 

8.00 a.m. (UK time) on 28 March 2014.  All dealings in 2021 Debentures prior to the commencement of unconditional dealings will be of no 

effect if Admission does not take place and such dealings will be at the sole risk of the parties concerned.  No application has been made, or is 

currently intended to be made, for the 2021 Debentures to be admitted to listing or dealt with on any other exchange.   

This document comprises a prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive.  This Prospectus has been filed with the UK Listing 

Authority and has been made available to the public in accordance with paragraph 3.2 of the Prospectus Rules of the UK Listing Authority.  

The 2021 Debentures are not the subject of any issue or sale.  They are the subject of this Prospectus for the purposes of the application for 

listing and trading as obligations of the Issuer (in substitution for Audax). 

The 2021 Debentures are not rated by any ratings agency and it is not expected that any rating agency will assign a credit rating to the 2021 

Debentures after the Effective Date.  

Particular attention is drawn to the risks and other factors that should be considered in connection with the Issuer and the 2021 Debentures set 

out in the section entitled "Risk Factors" on pages 11 – 15 of this document. 

No person has been authorised to give any information or make any representations other than those contained in this Prospectus and, if given 

or made, such information or representations must not be relied on as having been so authorised by the Issuer.  Without prejudice to any 

obligation of the Issuer to publish a supplementary prospectus pursuant to section 87G of FSMA and paragraph 3.4 of the Prospectus Rules, 

the delivery of this document shall not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the 

Issuer since the date of this document or that the information in it is correct as of any subsequent time.  The contents of this document should 

not be construed as legal, business or tax advice.  Any person contemplating purchasing 2021 Debentures should consult its own legal, 

business, accounting and tax advisers. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or Audax, to subscribe for or purchase any of the 

2021 Debentures.  The distribution of this Prospectus in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this 

Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. 

The 2021 Debentures have not been, and will not be, registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 as amended (the "Securities Act") or 

with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise 

transferred except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and in 

compliance with any application state securities laws. 

The 2021 Debentures have not been approved or disapproved by the Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities commission 

in the United States or any other US regulatory authority, nor have such authorities passed upon or determined the accuracy or adequacy of 

this document.  Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.  

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which 

has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and 

does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.   
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Jones Lang LaSalle accepts responsibility for the Valuation Report contained in this Prospectus.  To the best of its knowledge and belief 

(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in the Valuation Report is in accordance with the 

facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.   

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference set out in the section 

entitled "Documents Incorporated by Reference" on page 17 of this document. This Prospectus should be read and construed on the basis 

that such documents are incorporated and form part of the Prospectus. 

The Trustee has not separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or 

implied, is made and no responsibility or liability (whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise) is accepted by the Trustee as to the accuracy 

or completeness of the information contained in this Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the 2021 

Debentures. 

This Prospectus should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer that any recipient of this Prospectus should purchase any of the 

2021 Debentures. Any person contemplating purchasing 2021 Debentures should make its own independent investigation of the financial 

condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. 

References in this Prospectus to £, Sterling, sterling, pounds sterling or Pounds Sterling are to the lawful currency for the time being of the 

United Kingdom and Northern Ireland. 

The date of this Prospectus is 13 February 2014.  
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PART 1 

SUMMARY 

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements".  These elements are numbered 

in Sections A-E (A.1—E.7). 

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and 

Issuer.  Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering 

sequence of the Elements. 

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities 

and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element.  In this case a 

short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "not applicable." 

Section A - Introduction and warnings  

Element    

A.1 Introduction This summary should be read as an introduction to the 

Prospectus. 

Any decision to invest in the 2021 Debentures should be 

based on consideration of the Prospectus as a whole by the 

investor. 

This Prospectus should therefore be read in its entirety and 

reliance should not be placed solely on this summary. 

Where a claim relating to the information contained in this 

Prospectus is brought before a court in a member state of 

the EEA, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of 

the member state where the claim is brought, be required to 

bear the costs of translating this Prospectus before the 

legal proceedings are initiated. 

Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have 

tabled the summary, including any translation hereof, but 

only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or 

inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this 

Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together with 

the other parts of the Prospectus, key information in order 

to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the 

2021 Debentures.   

 

A.2 Subsequent resale of 

securities or final 

placement of 

securities through 

financial 

intermediaries 

Not applicable.  The Issuer is not engaging any financial 

intermediaries for any resale of securities or final placement 

of securities after publication of the Prospectus. 

 

 

Section B - Issuer  

Element    

B.1 Legal and commercial 

name 

Value and Income Trust plc   

B.2 Domicile / legal form / 

legislation / country of 

incorporation 

The Issuer is a public limited company, incorporated in 

Scotland on 19 April 1972 with registered number 

SC050366 and having its registered office at Kintyre House 
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205, West George Street, Glasgow G2 2LW.  The Issuer 

operates under the Companies Act. 

B.5 Description of the 

Issuer’s group 

Prior to the Reorganisation, the Issuer’s only significant 

subsidiary is Audax.  Immediately following the 

Reorganisation, the Issuer will not have any subsidiary 

undertakings. 

 

B.6 Shareholders As at 11 February 2014 (being the latest prior to publication 

of this document), the Issuer's significant shareholders are 

Matthew Oakeshott and family (11.82%), Alliance Trust 

Savings Limited (9.18%), Value and Income Trust - Share 

Plan and ISA (5.38%). Brewin Dolphin Securities (4.13%), 

Barclays Stockbrokers (3.72%), Rathbones (3.67%) and 

Smith & Williamson (3.51%).  Save for the significant 

shareholders, in so far as is known to the Directors, there is 

no other person interested in three per cent. or more of the 

issued share capital of the Issuer or any other person who 

can, will or could, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, 

exercise control over the Issuer. 

None of the Issuer's shareholders has or will have different 

voting rights attached to the shares than they hold in the 

Issuer. 

 

 

B.7 Selected historical key 

financial information 

The selected financial information set out below has been 

extracted, without adjustment, from the published audited 

consolidated accounts of the Issuer for the years ended 31 

March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 and the 

unaudited half yearly financial information of the Issuer for 

the periods ended 30 September 2013, 30 September 2012 

and 30 September 2011.   

 

 30 September 

2013 

31 March 

2013 

30 September 

2012 

31 March 

2012 

30 September 

2011 

31 March 

2011 

Net assets (valuing 

debt at par) 

£140,966,000 £135,843,000 £119,459,000 £115,597,000 £105,383,000 £113,463,000 

Net asset value per 

share (valuing debt 

at par) 

309.48p 298.23p 262.26p 253.78p 231.36p 249.10p 

Net asset value per 

share (valuing debt 

at market) 

287.72p 269.78p 231.80p 227.58p 205.88p 233.67p 

Profit before tax £7,082,000 £23,568,000 £5,572,000 £5,545,000 (£6,289,000) £11,139,000 

Total assets £177,776,000 £172,869,000 £156,622,000 £153,450,000 £142,876,000 £151,900,000 

Total non-current 

assets 

£172,795,000 £170,040,000 £153,214,000 £149,447,000 £138,695,000 £149,256,000 

Basic earnings per 

share 

15.55p 52.60p 12.63p 12.57p (13.75p) 24.94p 

 

 

  The significant rise in the profit before tax and the net asset 

value in the year ended 31 March 2013 was as a result of 

the 22% increase in the capital value of the equity portfolio. 

Save as set out in the preceding paragraph, there was no 

other significant change to the Issuer’s financial and 
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operating results in the period covered by the historical 

financial information. 

Since 30 September 2013 (being the date of the last 

published financial statements of the Issuer), there has 

been no significant change to the Issuer’s financial 

condition or operating results. 

B.8 Pro forma financial 

information 

Not applicable.  

B.9 Profit forecast / 

estimate 

Not applicable.  This Prospectus does not contain any profit 

forecast or estimate. 

 

B.10 Audit report - 

qualifications 

Not applicable.  There are no qualifications in the 

accountant's reports on the historical financial information 

incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. 

 

B.17 Credit ratings Not applicable.  

B.34 Investment objective 

and policy 

The investment objective of the Issuer is to provide above 

average long-term growth in dividends and capital values 

through selective long term investments in higher yielding, 

less fashionable areas of UK commercial properties and UK 

quoted equity markets, particularly in smaller companies.  

The Issuer aims for long term real growth in dividends and 

capital value without undue risk.  The Issuer’s policy is to 

invest in, and its portfolio consists primarily of, quoted UK 

equities, UK commercial property and cash or near cash 

securities.    

UK equities usually account for between half and three-

quarters of the total portfolio and property for a quarter to a 

half.  No individual shareholding will account for more than 

10% of the equity portfolio.  Gearing is between 25% and 

40% of the total portfolio.  In addition: 

• distributable income will be principally derived from 

investments.  The Issuer will not conduct any 

trading activity which is significant; 

• not more than 15 per cent. of distributable income 

will be retained by the Issuer; 

• not more than 15 per cent. of the Issuer’s gross 

assets will be lent to or invested in the securities of 

any one company; and 

• the distribution as dividend of surpluses arising 

from the realisation of investments is prohibited. 

 

B.35 Borrowings The Issuer’s borrowings shall not (unless sanctioned by 

ordinary resolution of the Issuer’s shareholders) exceed 

three times the Issuer’s adjusted total of capital and 

reserves (within the meaning given to such term in the 

Articles). 

It is the Issuer’s policy to maintain gearing at between 25% 

and 40% of the total portfolio. 

 

B.36 Regulatory The Issuer is not regulated as a collective investment 

undertaking (or otherwise) and is not authorised by the 

FCA. 
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B.37 Investors Institutional and professionally advised private investors.  

B.38 20% investment in 

collective investment 

undertakings 

Not applicable.  

B.39 40% investment in 

collective investment 

undertakings  

Not applicable.  

B.40 Services providers The Issuer has appointed: 

• two investment managers;  

• a custodian; and 

• a corporate secretary. 

The fees payable pursuant to these arrangements are: 

• 2/3 of 1% of the Issuer’s current assets is payable 

as a management fee and a maximum of 1/3 of 1% 

of the Issuer’s current assets may be payable as a 

performance fees, such fees are split between the 

investment managers;  

• £10,792.15 is currently payable quarterly to the 

custodian; and 

• £170,000 is payable annually to the corporate 

secretary. 

 

B.41 Investment manager, 

custodian 

OLIM Limited, which is regulated by the FCA, is appointed 

as investment manager of the Issuer’s equity portfolio.  

OLIM Property Limited, which is regulated by the FCA, is 

appointed as investment manager of the Issuer’s 

commercial portfolio. 

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation is appointed as 

the Issuer’s custodian.  Its activities in the UK are regulated 

by the FCA. 

 

B.42 Net asset value The Issuer’s property portfolio is valued bi-annually.  The 

Issuer’s equity portfolio is valued daily. 

Monthly statements of net asset value are announcement to 

a Regulatory Information Service. 

 

B.43 Umbrella collective 

investment 

undertakings 

Not applicable.  

B.44 Selected financial 

information 

See B.7 of this Summary.  

B.45 Portfolio The Issuer’s portfolio consists primarily of quoted UK 

equities, UK commercial property and cash or near cash 

securities.   

 

B.46 Net asset value per 

security  

Not applicable in relation to the 2021 Debentures. 

The net asset value per ordinary share in the capital of the 

Issuer is 314.62 pence (debt at par value) and 292.83 

pence (debt at fair value) as at 31 January 2014.  
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Section C – Securities  

Element    

C.1 Description of 

Securities 

Application will be made to admit £15,000,000 First 

Mortgage Debenture Stock 2021 to the Official List of the 

UK Listing Authority and to trading on the London Stock 

Exchange's main market for listed securities. 

When admitted to trading, the 2021 Debentures will be 

registered with ISIN number GB00BJVDZP03 and SEDOL 

number BJVDZP0. 

 

C.2 Currency of issue British pound sterling.  

C.3 Issued share capital The nominal value of the issued ordinary share capital of 

the Issuer is £4,554,997.50 divided into 45,549,975 

ordinary shares of 10p each, which are issued fully paid. 

 

C.5 Restrictions on 

transfer 

Subject to the Trust Deed and selling restrictions dictated 

by applicable laws, the 2021 Debentures are freely 

transferable in integral multiples of £1 each by instrument in 

writing and there are no restrictions on transfer. 

 

C.7 Dividend policy The dividends paid to the Issuer’s shareholders depend on, 

inter alia, the income return on the Issuer’s portfolio; they 

may therefore vary over time.  It is the objective of the 

Issuer to maximise the return to its equity shareholders in 

the form of long term real growth in dividends and capital 

value without undue risk through the optimisation of the 

debt and equity balance.  Since 1986 (when the current 

investment managers were appointed), the level of dividend 

per share has increased every year. 

 

C.8/C.9 Rights attaching to the 

2021 Debentures 

The table below set out the rights attaching to the 2021 

Debentures: 

Principal Amount 

(£) 

 

15,000,000  

Interest rate 

(% per annum) 

11 

Interest accrual 

method 

Daily  

Interest payment 

dates 

31 March and 30 September 

First interest 

payment date 

In respect of the First Debenture 

Stock, 31 March 1987 and, in 

respect of the Second Debenture 

Stock, 30 September 1988 

Maturity date 

 

31 March 2021 
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Amortisation / 

Repayment 

The Issuer will repay the 2021 

Debentures from cash resources of 

the Issuer or from further 

borrowings 

Listing UK Listing Authority and the 

London Stock Exchange’s main 

market for listed securities 

Form Registered 

Denomination Not applicable 

Trustee The Prudential Assurance 

Company Limited 

Clearing Not applicable 

C.10 Derivative component Not applicable.  

C.11 Admission to trading Application will be made to the UK Listing Authority for the 

2021 Debentures to be admitted to the Official List of the 

UK Listing Authority and to the London Stock Exchange for 

the 2021 Debentures to be admitted to trading on the 

London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities. 

 

 

Section D – Risks  

Element    

D.2 Key information on the 

key risks that are 

specific to the Issuer  

• The value of the Issuer’s UK equity portfolio is 

subject to volatility and may decrease or increase 

abruptly as a result of factors beyond the Issuer’s 

control relating to, amongst other things, the 

underlying performance of any company in which 

the Issuer holds securities or the general economic 

climate and market conditions. 

• Rental revenues from, and property values of, the 

Issuer’s property portfolio are affected by, amongst 

other things, changes in the general economic 

climate and local conditions such as oversupply 

and/or demand, competition and operating costs, 

which can sometimes result in rapid and substantial 

decreases in rental and valuation levels.  

• The Issuer is dependent on its investment 

managers for the successful management of its 

portfolio. 

 

D.3 Key information on the 

key risks relating to 

the 2021 Debentures 

• The terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures 

and the Trust Deed contain provisions for calling 

meetings, at which defined majorities are able to 

bind all holders of the 2021 Debentures, including 

those who did not attend or voted against the 

majority, on issues affecting the holders generally. 
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• Any trading market for the 2021 Debentures may 

not be liquid, and the price of the 2021 Debentures 

may therefore be subject to volatility and may 

decrease or increase as a result of factors beyond 

the Issuer’s control. 

 

Section E – Offer  

Element  Not applicable.  

E.2b Reasons for offer / use 

of proceeds  

Not applicable.  

E.3 Terms and conditions 

of the offer 

Not applicable.  

E.4 Material interests Not applicable.  

E.7 Estimated expenses 

charged to investors 

Not applicable.  
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PART 2 

RISK FACTORS 

 

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the 2021 

Debentures.  All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a 

position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.  In addition, factors which 

are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the 2021 Debentures are 

described below. 

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the 

2021 Debentures, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in 

connection with the 2021 Debentures for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by 

the Issuer based on information currently available to it or which it may not currently be able to anticipate. 

Persons contemplating purchasing any 2021 Debentures should reach their own views prior to making any 

investment decision. 

The risks relating to the Issuer’s group and the 2021 Debentures summarised in Part 1 of this document 

headed “Summary” are the risks that the Issuer believes to be most essential to an assessment of whether 

to consider an investment in the 2021 Debentures.  However, as the risks which the Issuer’s group faces 

relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future, the information on 

the key risks summarised in Part 1 of this document headed “Summary” should be considered together 

with, among other things, the risks and uncertainties described below.  

Words and expressions defined elsewhere in this Prospectus have the same meaning in this section. 

1.  Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the 2021 Debentures 

Portfolio generally 

The Issuer's financial instruments comprise securities, property and other investments, cash balances, 

loans and debtors and creditors that arise directly from its operations; for example, in respect of sales and 

purchases awaiting settlement or debtors for accrued income. 

UK securities usually account for between half and three-quarters of the total portfolio and property for a 

quarter to a half. 

Adverse market conditions in one or more asset classes or changes in economic factors may lead to a 

reduction in value and/or revenues.  In addition, actual or perceived changes in market or economic outlook 

may lead the Issuer to alter its allocations to particular assets. 

The value of the Issuer’s UK equity portfolio is subject to volatility and may decrease or increase abruptly 

as a result of factors beyond the Issuer’s control relating to, amongst other things, the underlying 

performance of any company in which the Issuer holds securities or the general economic climate and 

market conditions. 

Rental revenues and property values are affected by changes in the general economic climate and local 

conditions such as an oversupply of space, a reduction in demand for property in an area, competition from 

other available space or increased operating costs.  Rental revenues and property values are also affected 

by such factors as political developments, government regulations and changes in planning or tax laws, 

interest rate levels, inflation, the availability of financing and yields of alternative investments.  The rental 

levels and values of the properties in the portfolio of property of the Issuer are sensitive to such factors, 

which can sometimes result in rapid and substantial decreases in rental and valuation levels. 

Dependence on income 

The Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the 2021 Debentures will depend, in part, on the Issuer 

continuing to receive a significant level of rent from its tenants and dividends from the companies in which it 

holds securities.   
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The Issuer's ability to fulfil such obligations could be affected if occupancy levels were to fall or if a 

significant number of tenants were unable to meet their obligations.  As existing leases terminate or 

become subject to tenant break options or space needs to be re-let for other reasons, there can be no 

assurance that such space will be re-let or, if re-let, that it will be re-let on terms (including rental levels) as 

favourable to the Issuer as those currently, or then, existing or that new tenants will be as creditworthy as 

existing tenants.  

There can be no assurance that any company in which the Issuer holds equity will have sufficient available 

profits to declare or pay dividends or that the directors of any such company will choose to declare them. 

Insurance 

The Issuer seeks to maintain insurance cover on all its key property and liability exposures to a level 

consistent with sound business practice, using appropriate insurance products and providers, including 

self-insurance where applicable.  No assurance can be given that the insurance cover acquired by the 

Issuer provides adequate or sufficient cover for all events or incidents. The insurance market is volatile and 

therefore there can be no guarantee that existing cover will remain available or will be available at 

commercially acceptable premia.  If events or incidents were to occur which are not covered by the Issuer's 

insurance and/or adequate insurance were not to be available at commercially acceptable premia, this 

could adversely affect the financial position of the Issuer and its ability to meet its financial obligations. 

2. Risks relating to the Issuer's business 

The main risks that the Issuer faces from its financial instruments are (i) market risk (comprising price risk, 

interest rate risk and currency risk); (ii) liquidity risk; and (iii) credit risk. 

Market risk 

The fair value of, or future cash flows from, a financial instrument held by the Issuer may fluctuate because 

of changes in market prices, which may affect the value of the Issuer's investments.  

Interest rate movements may affect the fair value of the investments in property and the level of income 

receivable on cash deposits.   

A small proportion of the Issuer's investment portfolio is invested in securities whose fair value and 

dividend stream are affected by movements in foreign exchange rates.  The Issuer does not currently 

engage in any currency hedging. 

See the risk factors entitled "Portfolio generally" and "Dependence on income" above for further information 

as to the effect of market risk on the 2021 Debentures. 

Liquidity risk 

The Issuer may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities.  The 

Issuer's assets comprise of readily realisable securities which can be sold to meet commitments if required 

and investment properties which, by their nature, are less readily realisable.  However, no assurance can 

be given that the Issuer will be able to sell its assets or that, if sold, the value realised on any sale of the 

Issuer’s securities, or its investment properties, will be sufficient to meet obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities.   

See the risk factors entitled "Portfolio generally" and "Dependence on income" above for further information 

as to the effect of liquidity risk on the 2021 Debentures. 

Property risk 

The Issuer's commercial property portfolio is subject to both market and specific property risk.  The UK 

commercial property market has been cyclical for many years, and may be adversely affected by the price 

and availability of credit, real economic growth and the constraints on the development of new property. 

See the risk factors entitled "Portfolio generally" and "Dependence on income" above for further information 

as to the effect of property risk on the 2021 Debentures. 

Regulation 

The UK, European and global regulatory environments are rapidly evolving.  The expectations of financial 

regulators are changing and regulated entities must embed regulatory compliance in their business models 
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to an even greater extent than previously required.  Regulation has become, in many areas, more complex 

and onerous and regulated entities are faced with shorter timelines to interpret and implement new 

regulation.  There is substantial complexity from overlapping regulatory directives.  Failure to comply with 

such regulations could expose the Issuer to penalties, claims for financial compensation and significant 

reputational damage.  In addition, regulatory change may lead to the Issuer incurring substantive additional 

costs, including as a result of increased reliance on specialist third-party service providers. 

Portfolio management  

The Issuer’s performance will depend on its and the Managers’ ability to identify and acquire, operate and 

manage suitable investments and to overcome competition in doing so.  The Issuer’s success depends 

principally on the ability of the Managers to source, screen and select and then, under the direction of the 

board, operate and manage investments that it believes will meet the Issuer’s investment policy.   

The Issuer’s future success is substantially dependent on the Managers’ ability to attract, train, motivate 

and retain key management, commercial and technical personnel with the necessary skills and experience.  

There is no guarantee that the Managers will be successful in attracting and retaining key personnel.  The 

loss of any of these key personnel may have a material adverse effect on the future of the Issuer’s 

business.  

Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be able to identify, realise, operate and 

manage and exit investments that satisfy its investment and rate of return objectives, or that it will be able 

fully to invest its capital.  In addition, it is possible that competition for appropriate investment opportunities 

could increase, thereby reducing the number of opportunities available and adversely affecting the terms 

upon which the Issuer’s investments may be made.  

3. Risks relating to the 2021 Debentures  

Return 

There can be no certainty that the market price of the 2021 Debentures will fully reflect their underlying 

value. The price at which investors may dispose of their 2021 Debentures may be influenced by a number 

of factors, some of which may be related to the Issuer and the 2021 Debentures, and some not.  Holders of 

the 2021 Debentures may realise less than the original amount invested. 

Suitability 

Any person contemplating purchasing any 2021 Debentures must determine the suitability of that 

investment in light of its own circumstances.  In particular, any potential purchaser should: (i) have 

sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the 2021 Debentures, the merits 

and risks of investing in the 2021 Debentures and the information contained or incorporated by reference in 

this Prospectus or any applicable supplement; (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical 

tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the 2021 Debentures 

and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio; (iii) have sufficient financial 

resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 2021 Debentures; (iv) understand 

thoroughly the terms of the 2021 Debentures and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant markets; 

and (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 

economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable 

risks. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

Although the 2021 Debentures will not be assigned a credit rating by any rating agency on the Effective 

Date, one or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to some or all of the 2021 

Debentures in the future. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, 

market and other factors that may affect the value of the 2021 Debentures. A credit rating is not a 

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the relevant rating 

agency at any time. 

Meetings 

The terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures contain provisions for calling meetings of holders of the 

2021 Debentures to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined 
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majorities to bind all holders of 2021 Debentures including any holders who did not attend and vote at the 

relevant meeting and any holders who voted in a manner contrary to the relevant majority. 

Modification and waivers 

The terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of 

holders of the 2021 Debentures but provided that in each case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, 

materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the 2021 Debentures, agree to (a) any modification 

of, or to the waiver of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the 2021 Debentures or 

(b) determine without the consent of the holders of the 2021 Debentures that any Event of Default or 

potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such, although the Trustee may not exercise this power in 

contravention of express direction from the requisite holders of the 2021 Debentures. 

EU Savings Directive 

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to 

provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) 

paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State or to certain 

limited types of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period 

Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a 

withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent 

upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other 

countries).  A number of non-EU countries and territories have agreed to adopt similar measures.  Holders 

of the 2021 Debentures should be aware that the European Commission has proposed certain 

amendments to the EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC which may, if implemented, amend or broaden the 

scope of the requirements described above. 

Withholding Tax 

Under the current tax law of the United Kingdom, provided the 2021 Debentures continue to be listed on a 

"recognised stock exchange" (see the section entitled "United Kingdom Taxation" below), the Issuer is not, 

in respect of United Kingdom income tax, required to make any withholding or deduction at source from 

payments of any amounts in respect of the 2021 Debentures.  If a change in law obliges the Issuer to make 

any withholding or deduction from payments of any amount in respect of the 2021 Debentures, such 

payments will be made subject to such required deduction or withholding. In such circumstances where the 

payment in question is a payment of interest in respect of the 2021 Debentures and the Issuer is required 

to make a deduction of United Kingdom income tax from such interest payment, there will be no obligation 

on the Issuer to pay any additional amounts to the holders of the 2021 Debentures as a result. 

Change of law 

The Terms and Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the date of the issue of the 2021 

Debentures.  No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to 

English law or administrative practice. 

4. Risks relating to the substitution of the Issuer as debtor under the 2021 Debentures  

Certificates of Title 

No new certificates of title have been or will be produced in respect of the Property comprised in the 

Specific Security in contemplation of the substitution of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the 2021 

Debentures. 

Each Property comprised in the Specific Security currently stands as security for the 2021 Debentures and 

was, at the time it became part of the security for the 2021 Debentures, the subject of a certificate of title 

given in contemplation of that security (the "Existing Certificates of Title") given by the then solicitors of 

Audax.  The Existing Certificates of Title were issued between 1991 and 2012 and will not be updated in 

contemplation of the substitution of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the 2021 Debentures. 

Although the Properties comprised in the Specific Security were considered suitable as security for the 

2021 Debentures as at their date of inclusion within the relevant security package, information given in 

those Existing Certificates of Title is likely to be, in certain cases, substantially out of date and the time 
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period for bringing any claim in the event of any misstatement or omission in respect of the Existing 

Certificates of Title will, in the majority of cases, have elapsed. 

Each Property comprised in the Specific Security has been subject to certain limited title investigations in 

contemplation of the substitution of the Issuer for Audax in respect of the 2021 Debentures.  This 

investigation comprises searches at the Land Registry (in respect of Property comprised in the Specific 

Security in England and Wales) and the Land Register of Scotland or the General Register of Sasines (in 

respect of Property comprised in the Specific Security in Scotland) to confirm that there have not been any 

adverse registrations in respect of the Property comprised in the Specific Security since the provision of the 

Existing Certificates of Title. 

Except as stated above, no additional searches or enquiries will be made in respect of the Specific Security 

or the Issuer. 

Trustee Indemnification 

The Issuer is required to indemnify, without contractual limit but subject to certain exceptions, the Trustee 
against liabilities incurred in connection with the substitution of the Issuer as debtor of the 2021 
Debentures.  The indemnification obligation of the Issuer would be payable from its assets.   
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PART 3 

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS 

 

 

Event  Time and date
(1)

 

Admission and commencement of unconditional dealings on the London 

Stock Exchange 

8.00am on 28 March 2014 

Latest date for despatch of definitive certificates 11 April 2014 

Notes: 

(1) Each of the times and dates set out in the above timetable (and referred to elsewhere in this document) is subject to change 

without further notice.  All references to time in this document are to London time.   

(2) All dealings in 2021 Debentures prior to the commencement of unconditional dealings will be of no effect if Admission does 

not take place and such dealings will be at the sole risk of the parties concerned.   
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PART 4 

DOCUMENTATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
 

The table below sets out the information that is incorporated by reference into this document.  Each of the 

documents set out in the table below is available for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer.  No 

information which is incorporated by reference into any of the documents set out in the table below is 

incorporated by reference into this document.  Any information contained in any of the documents specified 

above which is not expressly incorporated by references in this Prospectus does not form part of this 

Prospectus and is either not relevant or is covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. Any information contained 

in any website referred to in any of the documents specified above does not form part of this Prospectus. 

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference may be inspected during normal business hours at the 

offices of Shepherd and Wedderburn LLP, Condor House, 10 St. Paul’s Churchyard, London EC4M 8AL 

and are available on the website of one of the Issuer’s investment managers, OLIM Limited, at the web 

addresses detailed below. 
 
 

Document 

(i) The auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 of the Issuer (pages 2-3, 

5-14 and 26-55 of the Issuer’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2011)   

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_annual_report_2011.pdf 

(ii) The auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 of the Issuer (pages 2-3, 

5-14 and 26-55 of the Issuer’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012)    

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_annual_report_2012.pdf  

(iii) The auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 of the Issuer (pages 2-3, 

5-14 and 26-55 of the Issuer’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2013) 

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_annual_report_2013.pdf  

(iv) The unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2011 of the Issuer (pages 

2 and 13-23 of the Issuer’s half-yearly report for the six months ended 30 September 2011 

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_interim_report_2011.pdf) 

(v) The  unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2012 of the Issuer 

(pages 2 and 13-23 of the Issuer’s half-yearly report for the six months ended 30 September 2012) 

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_interim_report_2012.pdf) 

(vi) The  unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2013 of the Issuer 

(pages 2 and 13-24 of the Issuer’s half-yearly report for the six months ended 30 September 2013) 

http://www.olim.co.uk/downloads/vit_interim_report_2013.pdf 
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PART 5 

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION 

 

Presentation of financial information 

Unless otherwise indicated, financial information set out in this document has been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as adopted by the European Commission for use 

in the European Union.  Any unaudited financial information set out in this document has been extracted 

without material adjustment from the Issuer's accounting records. 

Roundings 

Percentages in tables have been rounded and accordingly may not add up to 100 per cent. Certain 

financial data in this document, including financial, statistical and operating information has also been 

rounded.  As a result of this rounding, the totals of data presented in this document may vary slightly from 

the actual arithmetic totals of such data. 

Issuer’s group 

References in this Prospectus to the Issuer and the Issuer’s business will, where appropriate and in relation 

to the period prior to the Effective Date, be deemed to include reference to Audax.   

Forward-looking statements 

This document may include statements that are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements".  

These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the 

terms "believes", "estimates", "plans", "projects", anticipates", "expects", "intends", "may", "will", or "should" 

or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, 

plans, objectives, goals, future events or intentions.  These forward-looking statements include all matters 

that are not historical facts.  They appear in a number of places throughout this document and include, but 

are not limited to, statements regarding the Issuer's intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, 

among other things, the Issuer's results of operations, financial position, liquidity, prospects, growth, 

strategies and expectations of the industry in which the Issuer operates. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future 

events and circumstances.  Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the 

development of the markets and the industry in which the Issuer operates, may differ materially from those 

described in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this document.  In addition, 

even if the development of the markets and the industry in which the Issuer operates are consistent with 

the forward-looking statements contained in this document, those developments may not be indicative of 

developments in subsequent periods.  A number of factors could cause developments to differ materially 

from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements including, without limitation, general 

economic and business conditions, industry trends, competition, commodity prices, changes in regulation, 

currency fluctuations, changes in its business strategy, political and economic uncertainty and other factors 

discussed in Part 2 ("Risk factors") and Part 7 ("Information on the Issuer") of this document. 

Any forward-looking statements in this document reflect the Issuer's current view with respect to future 

events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions 

relating to the Issuer's operations and growth strategy.  Investors should specifically consider the factors 

identified in this document which could cause results to differ before making an investment decision.  

Subject to the requirements of applicable law or regulation (including the Disclosure and Transparency 

Rules, the Listing Rules, and the Prospectus Rules), the Issuer undertakes no obligation publicly to release 

the result of any revisions to any forward-looking statements in this document that may occur due to any 

change in the Issuer's expectations or to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document. 
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PART 6 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE 2021 DEBENTURES 

 

Set out below are the principal terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures in the form (subject to 

modification) in which they will appear in the Trust Deed. 

The 2021 Debentures are constituted by the Trust Deed. 

By virtue of the Deed of Amendment and Deed of Substitution with effect from the Effective Date:  

i) the Issuer will be substituted as principal obligor under the 2021 Debentures in the place of Audax 

(which will henceforth be released from its obligations thereunder); and 

ii) the terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures will be modified as set out in Part 7 (Information 

on the Reorganisation) of this document. 

The Existing Trust Deed, the Deed of Amendment and Deed of Substitution are together, and as further 

supplemented and/or amended, referred to as the Trust Deed and The Prudential Assurance Company 

Limited acts as trustee of the 2021 Debentures referred to as the Trustee. 

The statements in these terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed 

provisions of and definitions in the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trustee Deed are available for inspection 

during normal business hours by the holders of the 2021 Debentures at the registered office for the time 

being of the Trustee. The holders of the 2021 Debentures are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and 

are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed. 

1. Definitions 

Save as set out in this paragraph 1, the Definitions set out at Part 13 of this document shall apply to these 

Conditions unless the context otherwise requires. In these Conditions, the following terms have the 

following meanings: 

Adjusted Aggregate Value 

of the Specific Security 

means: 

(i) for the purposes of the Issuer’s right to issue further stock and 

the requirement for the Issuer to make good deficiencies, the 

aggregate Value of the Property, Approved Investments, 

money and investments representing such money, comprised 

and proposed to be comprised in the Specific Security;  

(ii) for the purpose of the Issuer’s right to withdraw parts of the 

Specify Security, the aggregate Value of the Property, 

Approved Investments, money and investments representing 

such money, comprised in the Specific Security 

provided that to the extent that the aggregate Value of such Approved 

Investments exceeds thirty per cent. of the aggregate Value specified 

in (i) or (ii) (as appropriate), such excess shall be disregarded 

Approved Investment means an Investment which shall have been approved in writing by 

the Trustee as security for the Stock 

Charging Company means and includes the Issuer and any Subsidiary which in any such 

case has for the time being subsisting on any assets owned by or 

vested in it a charge or charges in favour of the Trustee by way of 

collateral security for the Stock 

Conditions the conditions applicable to the 2021 Debenture Stock as set out in 

the Trust Deed 

Directors means the directors of the Issuer 

Further Stock means any further Stock of the Issuer which may be created and 
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issued by the Issuer pursuant to the Trust Deed 

Gross Annual Interest means at any date the gross annual amount of interest payable by the 

Issuer in respect of such of the Stock and the Further Stock as shall 

be outstanding at that date provided that if at the relevant date any 

Stock or Further Stock shall be partly paid Gross Annual Interest shall 

be the gross annual amount of interest which would be so payable if 

all the outstanding Stock and Further Stock were fully paid 

Income Report means a report made by the auditors pursuant to clause 12(5) of the 

Second Supplemental Trust Deed 

Investment means British Government stock and/or any other security or 

securities listed on The London Stock Exchange and includes future 

shares or securities, rights, dividends, monies, warrants or property 

paid, accruing or deriving therefrom at any time by way of redemption, 

bonus, preference, option, dividend, interest, consolidation, sub-

division or otherwise 

Net Annual Income has the meaning given to that term in the Trust Deed 

Original Stock means, pursuant to the Trust Deed, £15,000,000 11% first mortgage 

debenture stock 2021 

Owning Company means in relation to any part of the Specific Security the company 

(being either the Issuer or a Charging Company) which owns the 

relevant interest therein 

Planning Acts means the Town and Country Planning Acts 1971 to 1977 and, in 

relation to Property situate in Scotland, the Town and Country 

Planning (Scotland) Act 1972 and in relation to Property situate in 

Northern Ireland the Planning (Northern Ireland) Orders 1972-1991 

and any Act or Acts for the time being amending or replacing the 

same and shall include any orders rules and regulations made under 

or by virtue of the said Acts or Orders or any of them 

Property means (i) a freehold or leasehold estate in property situate in England 

and Wales or Northern Ireland or (ii) heritable or leasehold property 

situate in Scotland, which in either case is owned by the Issuer or a 

Charging Company 

Relevant Conditions means at any Relevant Date that: 

(i) of the total Value of the Specific Security, not more than 20 

per cent. is attributable to a single Property and (so that 

separate Properties on a single estate or development shall 

not be regarded as a single Property); and 

(ii) of the total Value of all Properties in the Specific Security, not 

more than 10 per cent. is attributable to leaseholds having an 

unexpired term of less than 50 years at the Relevant Date 

Relevant Date means the date of the transaction for the purpose of which the Value 

is required 

Second Supplemental Trust 

Deed 

a second supplemental trust deed dated 27 September 1991 between 

Audax, the Issuer and L.D.C. Trustees Limited in terms of which the 

First Debenture Stock and the Second Debenture Stock became 

known as the 2021 Debentures 

Specific Security means the Property expressed by the Trust Deed to be charged by 

way of first legal mortgage in favour of the Trustee (or in the case of 

Property situate in Northern Ireland, mortgaged by way of demise) 

and all other Property, Approved Investments, money and 



21 

 

 

 

investments representing such money which shall be or ought 

pursuant to any provisions of the Trust Deed at any time to be 

assured to or mortgaged or charged in favour of or paid to or vested in 

the Trustee by way of specific security for the payment of the principal 

moneys, premium (if any) and interest on the Stock and any Further 

Stock and other moneys intended to be hereby secured 

Stock means and includes (except in the second schedule to the Second 

Supplemental Trust Deed where it means the Original Stock) the 

Original Stock and any Further Stock provided that unless for any 

purpose the Trustee in its absolute discretion shall otherwise 

determine, the provisions of clauses 18, 29, 40 and 45 of the Second 

Supplemental Trust Deed shall apply on the basis that each reference 

to "Stock" is construed as a reference to each series of the Stock and 

that references therein to "the Stockholders" are construed 

accordingly 

Stockholders means the several persons for the time being registered as holders of 

the Stock provided that the above proviso to the definition of the Stock 

shall apply to this definition of the Stockholders 

Subsidiary means a subsidiary of the time being of the Issuer 

The London Stock 

Exchange 

means The International Stock Exchange of the United Kingdom and 

the Republic of Ireland Limited 

Valuation means: 

(i) in relation to Property a determination of the Value of the 

Property made by the Valuers on the basis (unless otherwise 

agreed by the Trustee) of open market value as that 

expression is defined in the Guidance Notes prepared by the 

Assets Valuation Standards Committee of the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors as in effect on the date of 

the Second Supplemental Trust Deed or (with the consent of 

the Trustee) as in force on the date of the Valuation; 

(ii) in relation to Approved Investments and investments 

representing money, a determination of the Value of the 

same agreed between the Issuer and the Trustee or (in the 

absence of such agreement) a valuation made by an expert 

approved by the President of the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors and shall (unless the Issuer and the 

Trustee otherwise agree) be made on the basis of the market 

bid price of the Investments (as derived from the Official List 

published by The London Stock Exchange) as at the date of 

such Valuation or, where such market bid price is not 

available, the most recent available bid price; and 

(iii) in relation to money, a determination of the Value of the 

money made by the Trustee 

Value has the meaning given to that term in the Trust Deed 

Valuers means such firm or firms of professional valuers as may from time to 

time be appointed by the Issuer with the approval of the Trustee or (if 

the Issuer and the Trustee are unable to agree as to such firm or 

firms) such firm of professional valuers as may be appointed by the 

President of for the time being of the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors 
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2. Constitution, Status and Title 

2.1 The 2021 Debentures shall be constituted by deed or deeds in favour of the Trustee expressed to 

be supplemental to the Trust Deed in such form as the Trustee approves particulars of which shall 

be duly registered with the Registrar of Companies. Such deed or deeds shall contain charges by 

way of first legal mortgage by the Issuer or the Charging Company of the Property and charges by 

way of first legal charge of the Approved Investments (if any) already forming part of the Specific 

Security or Property and Approved Investments on the occasion of the issue intended to become 

part of the Specific Security and such charges shall be security for the payment of the whole of the 

Stock including the 2021 Debentures then to be issued and all moneys intended to be secured by 

the Trust Deed so as to form part of the Specific Security. 

2.2 No 2021 Debentures shall be or become a charge upon any part of the Specific Security unless 

and until the Issuer and any Charging Company party thereto shall deliver to the Trustee such 

deed (duly stamped if necessary) constituting such 2021 Debentures and in no case shall the Trust 

Deed apart from such supplemental deed or deeds be deemed to constitute a security for 

debenture stock in excess of the Original Stock. 

2.3 Upon the issue of 2021 Debentures, the 2021 Debentures and the Original Stock premiums (if any) 

and the interest on all such Stock shall rank pari passu in point of charge and shall be equally and 

rateably secured by and upon the Specific Security. 

2.4 If there is more than one series of Stock outstanding the Issuer may exercise its rights and powers 

of purchase as regards the Original Stock and any 2021 Debentures (not being a series which is 

identical to and forms a single series with the Original Stock) at its absolute discretion and without 

obligation to maintain any ratio between the amounts for the time being outstanding of any series. 

2.5 The 2021 Debentures are issued in registered form without interest coupons or talons.  The 2021 

Debentures are issued in certificated form. 

2.6 Title to the 2021 Debentures will pass upon registration of transfers as provided in the Trust Deed. 

3. Issue and Interest 

3.1 Save as set out in paragraph 2 above, any 2021 Debentures may be issued to such persons and 

on such terms and either at par or at a discount or a premium as the Directors shall from time to 

time determine and the proceeds of issue thereof shall be receivable by the Issuer and shall be 

applicable as the Directors in their absolute discretion shall determine. 

3.2 The 2021 Debentures bear interest at the rate of 11 per cent. per annum with effect from 31 March 

1987 (in the case of the First Stock (as defined in the Trust Deed)) and 30 September 1988 (in the 

case of the Second Stock (as defined in the Trust Deed)).  Interest is payable on 31 March and 30 

September each year. 

3.3 Each 2021 Debenture will bear interest until the whole of the principal amount of the 2021 

Debentures and the premium (if any) have been repaid. 

4. Security 

4.1 The obligations of the Issuer to pay the principal amount of, premium (if any) and interest on the 

2021 Debentures are and shall be secured as provided in the Trust Deed. 

4.2 Power is reserved to the Issuer, or (with the Consent of the Issuer) any Charging Company, to 

create in favour of the Trustee and to their satisfaction a charge by way of first legal mortgage on 

any Property (or in the case of a Property situate in Northern Ireland to create a mortgage by way 

of demise) or by way of first legal charge on any Approved Investments not already forming part of 

the Specific Security or to pay to the Trustee the money to be held by the Trustee as security for 

the due payment of the principal and interest on the Stock and other moneys intended to be 

secured by the Trust Deed or partly one and partly another. 

4.3 Power is reserved to the Issuer, subject to the terms of the Trust Deed, at any time and from time 

to time to procure any Subsidiary to become with the consent of the Trustee a Charging Company. 
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4.4 Power is reserved to the Issuer and to any Charging Company to create or leave outstanding any 

floating charge over the whole or any part of the Specific Security. 

5. Redemption and Purchase 

5.1 The 2021 Debentures (so far as not previously redeemed or purchased by the Issuer or a 

Subsidiary under the conditions set out in the Conditions), will be repaid at par together with 

accrued interest on 31 March 2021. 

5.2 The Issuer and any Subsidiary may purchase Stock (a) through the market or by tender (available 

alike to all holders of 2021 Debentures) at a price not exceeding the average of the middle market 

quotations of the Stock (based on The Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the ten business days 

immediately preceding the date of such purchase if the Stock is listed and not exceeding 110 per 

cent., if the Stock is not listed, or, in the case of a purchase in the market, at the market price 

provided that it does not exceed 105 per cent. of such average, or (b) by private treaty at a price 

(inclusive of accrued interest but exclusive of expenses of purchase) not exceeding 110 per cent, if 

it be listed, of the middle market quotation for the Stock as derived from The Stock Exchange Daily 

Official List for the last business day preceding the date of purchase or, if it is not listed, 110 per 

cent., but not otherwise. 

5.3 All Stock purchased by the Issuer or a Subsidiary or redeemed as aforesaid shall be cancelled and 

the Issuer shall not be at liberty to keep the same alive for the purpose of reissue or resale or to 

reissue or resell the same. 

5.4 If by reason of a winding up of the Issuer or of any other enforcement provisions of the Trust Deed 

or any deed supplemental thereto the Stock becomes repayable before 31 March 2021, the Stock 

(except insofar as previously purchased by the Issuer or any Subsidiary and cancelled) will be 

repaid at whichever is the highest of:- 

5.4.1 par; 

5.4.2 the average of the middle market quotations for the Stock as derived from The Stock 

Exchange Daily Official List for each business day in the three calendar months ending on 

the third dealing day before the Relevant Date, if the Stock is listed on that third dealing 

day; and 

5.4.3 that price expressed as an amount per £100 nominal of the Stock at which the Gross 

Redemption Yield on the Stock, if it were to be purchased at such price on the third dealing 

day prior to the Relevant Date, would be equal to the Gross Redemption Yield (a) (at any 

time on or before 26 March 1999) on 13½% Treasury Stock 2004-2008 on the basis of the 

market price of 13½% Treasury stock 2004-2008 or (b) (after 26 March 1999) on such 

Qualifying Gilt as three primary dealers operating in the gilt edged market appointed by the 

Trustee after consultation with the Issuer (or if they cannot agree, a majority of them) shall 

certify or report to the Trustee as being the most appropriate Qualifying Gilt for the 

purposes of this provision and so that, for the purposes of this paragraph, market price 

shall be that prevailing at 11.00 a.m. on such third dealing day, as determined by such 

dealer as the Trustee may select.  If, at any time at which this price falls to be determined, 

there shall be no Qualifying Gilts in issue, then for the purpose of such determination the 

Gross Redemption Yield to be applied shall be such as shall be advised to the Trustee by 

three primary dealers appointed by the Trustee after consultation with the Company (or if 

they cannot agree, a majority of them) to be in their opinion and as far as practicable 

equivalent to what such yield would be if such non-availability of Qualifying Gilts had not 

arisen; if any amount per £100 nominal of the Stock payable as aforesaid is not an integral 

multiple of one penny any fraction of a penny shall be disregarded, 

together with interest accrued to the date of repayment PROVIDED THAT the price at which the 

Stock is repaid shall not exceed three times the nominal amount of the Stock. 

For the purposes of the foregoing: 

"the Gross Redemption Yield" in respect of the Stock or on 13½% Treasury Stock 2004-2008 or 

on any other Qualifying Gilt or otherwise will be expressed as a percentage and will be calculated 

 



24 

 

 

 

in accordance with the principles indicated by the Joint Index and Classification Committee of the 

Institute and Faculty of Actuaries as reported in the Journal of the Institute of Actuaries, Volume 

105, part 1, 1978, page 18.  In the case of the Stock such calculation will be made as if such Stock 

were to remain outstanding until, and be redeemed as its nominal amount on 31 March 2021; 

"Qualifying Gilt" means a redeemable fixed interest sterling obligation of the UK Government 

listed on The Stock Exchange and having a final maturity date occurring on or after the fifth 

anniversary of the third dealing day prior to the Relevant Date and which is not convertible; and 

"Relevant Date" means in the case of a redemption on a winding up by the Court (otherwise than 

subsequent to a resolution of the Issuer in general meeting for winding up) the date of presentation 

of the petition for winding up and in any other case the date of the notice convening the meeting to 

consider the voluntary winding up or, if the Stock so becomes redeemable before either such date, 

the date on which it so becomes redeemable. 

6. Valuation of Security  

6.1 The Issuer or the Trustee shall have the right from time to time to require Valuations of the whole 

(with such exceptions as the Trustee may agree) of the Specific Security provided that (save as 

provided in paragraph 6.2) not more than one Valuation shall be required by each of the Issuer and 

the Trustee in any accounting reference period of the Issuer. 

6.2 The Trustee will have the right at any time to require a Valuation of the whole (with such exceptions 

as the Trustee may agree) of the Approved Investments comprised in the Specific Security 

provided that the Trustee has reason to believe that the aggregate Value of such Approved 

Investments has changed such that the requirement for the Issuer to make good deficiencies 

applies. 

7. Substitution 

7.1 The Issuer or, with the consent of the Issuer, a Charging Company may at any time and from time 

to time before the security constituted pursuant to the Trust Deed have become enforceable and 

the Trustee shall have determined or become bound to enforce the same withdraw from the 

security all or any of the Specific Security upon substituting therefor or procuring the substitution 

therefor of: 

7.1.1 Property; 

7.1.2 Approved Investments; 

7.1.3 moneys; or  

7.1.4 partly Property and partly Approved Investments and partly moneys or any combination 

of these, 

being in any such case of an aggregate Value which together with any credit given shall be at least 

equal to the Value of the Property and/or Approved Investments and/or moneys being released 

from the security provided that (1) immediately following such substitution the Relevant Conditions 

would be satisfied and (2) either (a) immediately following such substitution the Net Annual Income 

receivable from the Specific Security shall be not less than one and one-half times the Gross 

Annual Interest or (b) the Net Annual Income accruing from the Property, Approved Investments or 

moneys (or any) being substituted together with any credit given shall be at least equal to the Net 

Annual Income from the Specific Security or part thereof being released from the charge. 

7.2 Before the Trustee shall permit the Issuer to withdraw any Property, Approved Investments or 

moneys the Issuer shall give notice in writing to the Trustee of the proposed withdrawal and deliver 

a certificate as described in the Trust Deed and shall mortgage or charge any such Property (by 

way of first legal mortgage and in favour of and to the satisfaction of the Trustee (or in the case of a 

Property situate in Northern Ireland by way of demise) or charge any such Approved Investments 

(by way of first legal charge and in favour of and to the satisfaction of and so as to be held by the 

Trustee) or pay such moneys to the Trustee (or procure such mortgage charge or payment) in such 

manner as the Trustee shall direct so as to become part of the Specific Security and thereupon the 

Trustee shall release and surrender or pay to the Issuer or as the Issuer may direct the Property, 
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Approved Investments or moneys proposed to be withdrawn and so that the same shall be held 

free from the security.  

8. Withdrawal 

8.1 The Issuer or (with the consent of the Issuer) any Charging Company may within six months 

following any Valuation made or, where such requirement is satisfied in accordance with the 

provisions of the Trust Deed allowing Valuations to be provided as at a particular date, within three 

months of such requirement (or in either case within such longer period as the Trustee may 

approve) withdraw such part or parts of the Specific Security as the Company may select without 

obtaining the approval of the Trustee and without substituting other Property, Approved 

Investments or moneys, provided that: 

8.1.1 the security constituted shall not at the date of withdrawal have become exercisable; 

8.1.2 the Adjusted Aggregate Value of the Specific Security remaining immediately after such 

withdrawal according to the Valuation shall be not less than one and one-half times the 

aggregate nominal amount of the Stock then outstanding (including any fixed or minimum 

premiums payable on final redemption) and the Relevant Conditions would be satisfied 

immediately after such withdrawal; 

8.1.3 the Net Annual Income receivable (according to the Income Report made as at the date of 

such Valuation) from the Specific Security remaining immediately following such withdrawal 

less than the deduction referred to at paragraph 8.1.4 shall not be less than one and one-

half times the Gross Annual Interest as at the date of withdrawal; 

8.1.4 if more than one quarter of the Net Annual Income consists of income receivable from 

Property which is let to a single company or the holding company or subsidiaries of such 

company, the amount of such excess over one quarter shall be a deduction for the purpose 

of paragraph 8.1.3; and 

8.1.5 if a right to withdraw part of the Specific Security ("Withdrawal Right") shall arise pursuant 

to a Valuation (the "First Valuation") and prior to the exercise of such Withdrawal Right a 

Withdrawal Right shall arise pursuant to a subsequent valuation (the "Second Valuation") 

then upon the exercise of the Withdrawal Right pursuant to the Second Valuation the 

Withdrawal Right pursuant to the First Valuation shall ipso facto be cancelled 

8.2 Upon any such withdrawal the Issuer or (with the consent of the Issuer) the Charging Company 

concerned may require the Trustee and the Trustee shall thereupon be obliged to release or pay to 

the company concerned or as it may direct the Property, Approved Investments or moneys 

proposed to be withdrawn so that the same shall thenceforth be held free from the security 

constituted by the Trust Deed. 

9. Making Good Deficiencies 

9.1 If the Adjusted Aggregate Value of the Specific Security as shown by a Valuation is less than one 

and one-half  times the aggregate nominal amount of the Stock then outstanding (including any 

fixed or minimum premiums payable on final redemption), the Issuer shall within six months after 

delivery of a Valuation made or, where such requirement is satisfied under the provisions of the 

Trust Deed allowing Valuations to be provided as at a particular date, within three months of such 

requirement (or in either case within such longer period as the Trustee may approve) make good 

the deficiency by the Issuer or (with the consent of the Issuer) any Charging Company mortgaging 

or charging (by way of first legal charge in favour of and to the satisfaction of the Trustee) in such 

manner as the Trustee shall reasonably direct so as to become part of the Specific Security other 

Property and charging (by way of first legal charge in favour of and to the satisfaction of and so as 

to be held by the Trustee) other Approved Investments (or either of these) not then already forming 

part of the Specific Security of a Value not less than the amount of the deficiency, or (at the option 

of the Issuer) by the Issuer or a Charging Company paying to the Trustee as part of the Specific 

Security a sum of money equal to the amount of such deficiency or partly in one way and partly in 

another. 
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9.2 If the Net Annual Income receivable from the Specific Security (as shown in an Income Report) 

less the deduction referred to in paragraph 9.3 below shall be less than one and one-half times the 

Gross Annual Interest as at the date of such report, such deficiency shall within six months after 

the date of such Income Report or, if the Income Report is made in respect of a Valuation or 

Valuations as at a date prior to the date of the requirement for a Valuation, within three months 

after the date of such requirement (or, in either case, such longer period as the Trustee may 

approve) be made good by the Issuer or (with the consent of the Issuer) any Charging Company 

specifically charging in favour of the Trustee and to their satisfaction further Property or charging 

(by way of first legal charge in favour of and to the satisfaction of and so as to be held by the 

Trustee) other Approved Investments (or either of these) or, at the option of the Issuer, paying to 

the Trustee so as to form part of the Specific Security a sum of money producing immediately after 

such charge or payment Net Annual Income sufficient to make up such deficiency, or partly in one 

way and partly in another. 

9.3 If more than one quarter of the Net Annual Income referred to in paragraph 9.2 above consists of 

income receivable from Property which is let to a single company or a holding company or 

subsidiaries of such company, the amount of such excess over one quarter shall be a deduction for 

the purpose of paragraph 9.2 above. 

10. Restrictions on Leasing 

10.1 Except as set out in paragraph 10.2 below, the Issuer (which expression in this paragraph includes 

any Charging Company) shall not during the continuance of the security constituted by the Trust 

Deed exercise over or in relation to any of the Specific Security without the consent of the Trustee 

any of the powers of leasing at common law or powers of leasing and ancillary powers contained in 

or given by sections 99 and 100 of the Law of Property Act 1925 or in relation to the Property 

situate in Northern Ireland section 18 of the Conveyancing Act 1881 and section 3 of the 

Conveyancing Act 1911 to a mortgagor in possession. 

10.2 The Issuer may in the ordinary course of its business without the consent or concurrence of the 

Trustee at any time and from time to time before the security constituted by the Trust Deed shall 

have become enforceable: 

10.2.1 grant at the best rents reasonably obtainable in the open market without reserving any fine 

or premium such leases or tenancies (taking effect in possession either not later than five 

years after the date thereof or immediately upon expiry of a preceding term vested in the 

same tenant) for such terms not exceeding (or in the case of consecutive terms granted to 

the same tenant not exceeding in aggregate) 42 years and otherwise upon such conditions 

as it may think fit of any part of the Specific Security provided that the consent of the 

Trustee shall be required for the grant of any lease for a term in excess of seven years 

which does not contain provisions for reviewing the rent thereby reserved at least once in 

every seven years of the term in an upwards direction only to the best rent reasonably 

obtainable in the open market without taking a fine or premium; 

10.2.2 accept a surrender of any lease or tenancy or any part of the Specific Security then having 

a term not exceeding (or in the case of consecutive terms granted to the same tenant not 

exceeding in aggregate) 42 years unexpired and whether subsisting at the date of the Trust 

Deed or granted subsequently under the provisions of the Trust Deed or otherwise for the 

purpose of granting a new lease or tenancy of the type specified in and where not requiring 

the consent of the Trustee as referred to under paragraph 10.2.1 above or (if such consent 

be required) then subject to such consent having been first obtained; 

10.2.3 waive or vary any of the covenants conditions or provisions contained in any lease or 

tenancy of any part of the Specific Security then having a term not exceeding (or in the 

case of consecutive terms granted to the same tenant not exceeding in aggregate) 42 

years unexpired whether subsisting at the date of the Trust Deed or granted subsequently 

under the provisions of the Trust Deed or otherwise but not without in each case obtaining 

the consent of the Trustee if the effect is to reduce the amount of any rent thereby 

reserved, or to extend the term thereby created so as to exceed 42 years unexpired as at 

the date of such extension, or to vary the provisions of any rent review in such manner that 
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if the relevant lease were then being granted with the term or rent review provisions in their 

varied form the consent of the Trustee to such grant would by virtue of such provisions be 

requisite in accordance with the proviso referred to in paragraph 10.2.1 above; 

10.2.4 propose or agree to refer to the determination by an arbitrator or expert the amount of any 

rent payable by or to the Owning Company to be reviewed pursuant to the provisions for 

review under any lease of the Specific Security or any part thereof vested in the Owning 

Company or subject to which the same is (whether mediately or immediately) held by the 

Owning Company; 

10.2.5 grant licences for any alteration or addition to or for any change of user of that Specific 

Security or any part thereof provided that where the alteration addition or change of user 

concerned requires permission under the Planning Acts the Issuer shall nevertheless first 

obtain the written consent of the Trustee, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; 

and/or 

10.2.6 grant licences for mortgages, charges, assignments, transfers, underlettings or licences to 

occupy and use the Specific Security or any part thereof. 

11. Enforcement of Security 

The security constituted by the Trust Deed shall become enforceable and the Trustee at its discretion may 

give notice to the Issuer declaring that the Stock is immediately due and repayable and, if so requested in 

writing by the holders of at least one-fifth of the principal amount of the Stock then outstanding or if so 

directed by an extraordinary resolution, shall give such notice and forthwith after any such notice the Stock 

shall become immediately due and repayable in the event of any of the following (each an “Event of 

Default”): 

11.1 the Issuer makes default in the payment of any principal or premium (if any) due in respect of any 

of the Stock when and as the same ought to be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Trust 

Deed; 

11.2 the Issuer makes default in the payment of any interest on the Stock for a period of fourteen days 

after the due date for payment thereof; 

11.3 an order is made or an effective resolution passed for winding up the Issuer or any Charging 

Company except (in the case only of a Charging Company) a voluntary winding up for the 

purposes of a scheme or reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall have been 

approved in writing by the Trustee or if a petition shall be presented or an order made for the 

appointment of an administrator in relation to the Issuer or any Charging Company; 

11.4 an encumbrancer takes possession or a receiver, administrative receiver or manager is appointed 

of the Specific Security or any part thereof; 

11.5 a distress or execution or other process shall be levied or enforced upon or sued out against any 

part of the Specific Security and not paid out or discharged within seven days and the Trustee has 

served notice in writing on the Issuer requiring the Issuer to pay out or discharge such process in 

full (or procure that it is so paid out or discharged) within seven days of such notice and the Issuer 

has failed to comply with such notice; 

11.6 the Issuer or any Charging Company ceases or threatens to cease to carry on business (except in 

the case of a Charging Company under a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of 

which shall have been approved in writing by the Trustee); 

11.7 the Issuer or any Charging Company stops payment of or is unable to pay its debts within the 

meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986 and, if only sub-section (1) thereof is applicable, 

the Trustee has certified that such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of the 

Stockholders; 

11.8 the Issuer or any Charging Company at any time fails to observe or perform any covenant condition 

or provision of the Trust Deed and on its part to be observed and performed (other than with regard 

to the payment of principal moneys or interest due in respect of any of the Stock as referred to in 

paragraph 11.9 below) and (if such breach is remediable) fails to remedy the same within 21 days; 
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11.9 any Charging Company (other than the Issuer) ceases to be a Subsidiary in any such case without 

the prior written consent of the Trustee; 

11.10 the security for any other debentures or any mortgage or charge of the Issuer or any Charging 

Company shall become enforceable and steps shall be taken to enforce the same; 

11.11 the repayment of any borrowing of a sum in excess of £100,000 by the Issuer or any Charging 

company is accelerated by reason of default and steps shall be taken to enforce such payment; 

11.12 the Issuer or any Charging Company shall create or purport to create or permit any mortgage 

charge or lien raking or which by any means may be made to rank on the Specific Security or any 

part thereof pari passu with or in priority to the security constituted by the Trust Deed; or 

11.13 the Company sells its whole undertaking or a substantial part thereof without the prior written 

consent of the Trustee. 

12. Powers of Conversion 

At any time after the security constituted by the Trust Deed becomes enforceable the Trustee may in its 

discretion and shall upon the request in writing of the registered holder or holders of at least one-fifth part in 

nominal amount of the Stock for the time being outstanding or upon the request of the Stockholders by an 

Extraordinary Resolution (and in either case without any further consent on the part of the Company or its 

assigns): 

12.1 enter upon or take possession of the Specific Security or any part thereof; 

12.2 sell call in collect and convert into money the Specific Security or any part thereof; and/or 

12.3 sell transfer assign or otherwise deal with the Specific Security or any part thereof in such manner 

and for such consideration (whether payable or deliverable immediately or by instalments) as the 

Trustees shall think fit. 

13. Appointment of a Receiver 

At any time after the security constituted by the Trust Deed shall have become enforceable or after 

a petition for winding up the Issuer or a Charging Company shall have been presented or a notice 

shall have been given of a proposed resolution for winding up the Issuer or without the consent of 

the Trustee any Charging Company otherwise than for the purpose of an amalgamation or 

reconstruction the terms of which have been approved in writing by the Trustee, the Trustee may in 

its discretion and shall upon the request of the Stockholders by an Extraordinary Resolution or 

upon the request in writing of the holder or holders of not less than one-fifth part in nominal value of 

the Stock and without further notice by writing appoint a receiver of the Specific Security or any 

part thereof with power from time to time to remove any receiver so appointed and appoint another 

or others in his stead. 

14. Trustee's Power to Enter into Possession 

The Trustee may enter into possession of and hold or appoint a receiver to take possession of and 

hold any part of the Specific Security which may at any time appear to it in danger of being under 

any process of law by any creditor of the Issuer or a Charging Company or to be otherwise in 

jeopardy. 

15. Meetings of holders 

15.1 The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the holders of the 2021 Debentures 

to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the modification by Extraordinary 

Resolution of these Conditions or the provisions of the Trust Deed. The quorum at any meeting for 

passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons present holding or representing a 

clear majority in nominal amount of the 2021 Debentures for the time being outstanding, or at any 

adjourned meeting one or more persons present whatever the nominal amount of the Debentures 

held or represented by him or them. 

15.2 An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the holders of the 2021 Debentures will be 

binding on all holders of the 2021 Debentures, whether or not they are present at the meeting. 
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15.3 Each holder of the 2021 Debentures will have one vote on a show of hands and one vote for each 

£1 of nominal amount held by him.  The chairman of the meeting has a casting vote. 

16. Payments 

16.1 Subject as provided in the Trust Deed, payments of any monies owing upon the 2021 Debentures 

may be paid by any method for the time being specified in the Issuer’s articles of association for 

payment of dividend or sent by cheque or warrant to the registered address of the holder at the risk 

of the holder. 

17. Transfers 

17.1 Subject to the provisions of the Trust Deed, the 2021 Debentures may be transferred in integral 

multiples of £1 in nominal amount by the registered holder by delivery to the registered office of the 

Company (or such other place as is appointed by the Directors) of the relevant 2021 Debentures 

together with the instrument of transfer in usual or common form duly completed and signed by or 

on behalf of the transferor and such other evidence as the Directors reasonably require to prove 

title to the 2021 Debentures. 

18. Trustee Indemnity and Contracts with Issuer 

18.1 The Trustee shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the Specific Security in respect of all 

liabilities, costs charges and expenses incurred by it in the execution or purported execution of any 

of the trusts powers or discretions vested in them pursuant to the Trust Deed and against all 

actions proceedings costs claims and demands in respect of any matter or thing done or omitted in 

relation to the Trust Deed. 

18.2 The Trustee may be appointed a director or officer of the Company and enter into contracts and 

transactions with the Issuer or any Subsidiary or in connection with the Specific Security or any part 

thereof. 

19. Appointment and Retirement of New Trustees 

19.1 The statutory power of appointing new trustees shall be vested in the Issuer but a trustee so 

appointed must first be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Stockholders. A body 

corporate may be appointed as a trustee and if a trust corporation, it may be the sole trustee. 

Subject to a trust corporation being the sole trustee, there shall be at least two trustees, one of 

whom shall be a trust corporation. When there are more than two trustees, a majority of the 

trustees may exercise all the functions powers and duties vested in the trustee. 

19.2 A trustee may retire on giving three calendar months' notice in writing to the Issuer provide that 

such retirement shall not take effect until a new trustee has been appointed. 

20. Register 

The Issuer shall at all times keep at its registered office or (subject to the provisions of section 743 

of the Companies Act 2006) some other place approved by the Trustee an accurate register for 

each class of Stock showing the amount of the Stock for the time being issued, the date of issue, 

any transfers of Stock or changes in ownership, the names and addresses of the Stockholders and 

the persons deriving title under them. 

21. Governing Law 

The Trust Deed is governed by English law and, given that it is constituted as a deed, any claims to 

interest and repayment of principal are subject to a statutory time limit of 12 years. 
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PART 7 

INFORMATION ON THE REORGANISATION 

 

Background 

The Issuer has one subsidiary undertaking, Audax, the principal business of which is a property investment 

company.  As at 30 September 2013, Audax’s net assets (on an unaudited basis) were valued at 

£12,988,684. 

On 7 August 1986, Audax constituted the First Debenture Stock and, on 23 March 1988, Audax constituted 

the Second Debenture Stock.  On 27 September 1991, the First Debenture Stock and the Second 

Debenture Stock became known as the 2021 Debentures.  The 2021 Debentures are listed on the Official 

List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for 

listed securities.   

The Directors have resolved to simplify the structure of the Issuer’s group so that the assets (and liabilities) 

of Audax are transferred to the Issuer and Audax is dissolved.  The Issuer and Audax have entered into a 

business transfer agreement in terms of which the Charged Property Portfolio, the Uncharged Property 

Portfolio and any and all other assets of Audax will be transferred to the Issuer at market value, such 

consideration to be satisfied by the assumption by the Issuer of any and all liabilities of Audax, including 

Audax’s obligations in terms of the 2021 Debentures, with the balance in cash to be left outstanding on 

intercompany account until such time as Audax is dissolved.  

As part of this reorganisation, the Issuer will become the sole debtor in respect of the 2021 Debentures and 

Audax will cease to be an obligor in relation to the 2021 Debentures.  The Issuer will assume all obligations 

of Audax under the 2021 Debentures including, without limitation, the obligation to repay all interest 

accrued but unpaid as at the Effective Date and payable on the interest payment date following the 

Effective Date (being 31 March 2014).   

The 2021 Debentures are secured by charges granted by Audax over its Charged Property Portfolio in 

favour of the Trustee, which will be released and then re-granted by the Issuer upon transfer to it by Audax 

of the Charged Property Portfolio. 

This substitution and release and re-grant of security in connection with the substitution: (i) will be 

implemented by the Deed of Amendment, Deed of Substitution and Deed of Release; and (ii) requires the 

approval by the holders of the 2021 Debentures by way of two Extraordinary Resolutions to be proposed at 

a meeting of the holders of the 2021 Debentures convened for 11 March 2014.   

The First Extraordinary Resolution 

The Existing Trust Deed does not contain an express power of the holders of the 2021 Debentures to 

approve, by way of Extraordinary Resolution, the substitution of the Issuer as debtor under the 2021 

Debentures and release and re-grant of security in connection with such substitution.  In terms of the First 

Extraordinary Resolution, the holders of the 2021 Debentures are therefore being asked to assent to the 

supplementation of their powers that are exercisable by Extraordinary Resolution only to so provide them 

with the power to approve this substitution of the Issuer and release and re-grant of security in connection 

with such substitution.   

In addition, by passing the First Extraordinary Resolution, the holders of the 2021 Debentures will be:  

• approving the entry by the Trustee into the Deed of Amendment, in terms of which the powers of 

the holders of the 2021 Debentures exercisable by Extraordinary Resolution only were so 

supplemented; and  

• discharging the Trustee from any liability in connection with the First Extraordinary Resolution.   

The Second Extraordinary Resolution 

In terms of the Second Extraordinary Resolution, which is proposed conditional upon the Deed of 

Amendment coming into effect, the holders of the 2021 Debentures are being asked to assent to the 

release of Audax from all and any of its obligations under the Existing Trust Deed and the assumption by 
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the Issuer of the rights and obligations in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, Audax.  In addition, by 

passing the Second Extraordinary Resolution, the holders of the 2021 Debentures will be:  

• approving the entry by the Trustee into the Deed of Substitution, in terms of which the substitution 

will effected, new certificates in respect of the 2021 Debentures will be issued to holders, new 

security will granted over the properties that are transferred by Audax to the Issuer and certain 

consequential amendments will made to the Existing Trust Deed; 

• approving the entry by the Trustee into the Deed of Release, in terms of which the existing security 

over Audax’s Charged Property Portfolio will be released; and  

• discharging the Trustee from any liability in connection with the Second Extraordinary Resolution.   

Condition 

The Deed of Amendment, the Deed of Substitution and the Deed of Release will be entered into following 

approval by the holders of the 2021 Debentures of the Extraordinary Resolutions.  The effectiveness of 

Deed of Substitution and the Deed of Release will conditional upon Admission becoming effective by no 

later than 30 June 2014. 

Listing 

An application will be made to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange for cancellation of 

the listing and admission to trading of the 2021 Debentures in the name of Audax, and for Admission. 

The application for cancellation of the listing and admission to trading of the 2021 Debentures in the name 

of Audax will be made conditional upon Admission becoming effective.   

It is expected that the cancellation of the listing admission to trading of the 2021 Debentures, and 

Admission, will take place on 28 March 2014.  Concurrently with this, Audax’s assets and liabilities will be 

transferred to the Issuer and the substitution, release and re-grant of security (and other amendments 

provided for in the Deed of Substitution) will become effective. 

On the Effective Date, certificates in respect of the 2021 Debentures will cease to be valid.  Temporary 

documents of title will not be issued pending despatch by post of new definitive certificates for the 2021 

Debentures to be issued by the Issuer.  Pending the issue of such certificates, holders of the 2021 

Debentures wishing to register transfers of their 2021 Debentures may certify their forms of transfer against 

the register of holders of the 2021 Debentures by contacting the Issuer’s registrar, Computershare Investor 

Services plc.  On registration of any such transfers, the transferee will receive a certificate in respect of the 

2021 Debentures the subject of the relevant transfers. 
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PART 8 

INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

 

Introduction 

The Issuer was incorporated in Scotland under the Companies Act 1948 to 1967 on 19 April 1972 with 

registered number SC050366 and under the name S.F.M. Investments Limited as a company limited by 

shares.  It was re-registered as a public limited company on 22 December 1981.  It changed its name to 

The Scottish European Investment Company Limited by special resolution dated 1 May 1972, to Stewart 

Enterprise Investment Company plc by special resolution dated 1 June 1981 and to its present name, 

Value and Income Trust plc, by special resolution dated 5 August 1986. 

The Issuer operates under the Companies Act as a public limited company.  The Issuer is domiciled in the 

UK.  The Issuer’s registered office is located at Kintyre House 205, West George Street, Glasgow, Scotland 

G2 2LW, the telephone number is 0141 306 7400 and its principal place of business is at Pollen House, 

10/12 Cork Street, London W1S 3NP. 

Business 

The Issuer is an investment company within the meaning of the Companies Acts and has been approved 

as an investment trust by HMRC (or its predecessors) under the provisions now contained in the 

Corporation Taxes Act 2010 for each accounting period from 1974 to 2012.   

Investment objectives and policy  

The investment objective of the Issuer is to provide above average long-term growth in dividends and 

capital values through selective long term investments in higher yielding, less fashionable areas of UK 

commercial properties and UK quoted equity markets, particularly in smaller companies.  The Issuer aims 

for long term real growth in dividends and capital value without undue risk. 

The typical investors for whom the Issuer is designed are institutional investors and professionally advised 

private investors seeking, over the longer term, a high, secure dividend yield on their investments and long-

term capital growth from investments principally in equities and commercial properties. 

The Issuer’s policy is to invest in, and its portfolio consists primarily of, quoted UK equities, UK commercial 

property and cash or near cash securities.  It is not normally the Issuer’s policy to invest in overseas shares 

or in unquoted companies.  UK equities usually account for between half and three-quarters of the total 

portfolio and property for a quarter to a half.  However, the asset allocation may go outside these ranges if 

relative market levels and investment value, or a desired increase in cash or near cash securities, make it 

appropriate.  The Issuer focuses on the fundamental values and incomes of the businesses in which it 

invests – their profitability, cash flows, balance sheets, management and products and services – and the 
location, tenants and leases of its property investments. 

The Issuer has held between 30 and 40 individual shareholdings and between 20 and 30 individual 

properties in recent years, but these ranges may change as the market conditions or size of the portfolio 

vary in future.  No individual shareholding will account for more than 10% of the equity portfolio at the time 
of purchase.  For further information see the paragraph headed “Investment Restrictions” below. 

It is the Issuer’s policy to increase its exposure to equities and, particularly, to property through the 

judicious use of borrowings.  In accordance with the Articles, the Issuer’s borrowings shall not (unless 

sanctioned by ordinary resolution of the Issuer’s shareholders) exceed three times the Issuer’s adjusted 

total of capital and reserves (within the meaning given to such term in the Articles).   

All borrowings have been long term debentures (see under the heading "Borrowings" below).  Gearing 

has varied between a quarter and two-fifths of the total portfolio.  It is the Issuer’s policy to maintain gearing 

at this level and not to raise new borrowings if the total net borrowings would then represent more than half 

of the total assets. 

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any material change in the Issuer’s investment policy will only be 

made with the approval of the Issuer’s shareholders by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting of 
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the Issuer.  Such an alteration would be announced by the Issuer through a Regulatory Information 
Service. 

Portfolio 

A summary of the Issuer’s portfolio is set out in the table below*: 

 

 30 September 

2013 

31 March 2013 30 September 

2012 

31 March 2012 30 September 

2011 

31 March 2011 

 £ 

million 

% £ 

million 

% £ 

million 

% £ 

million 

% £ 

million 

% £ 

million 

% 

UK 

equities 

126.4 72.0 123.8 72.0 106.0 68.0 101.2 67.0 90.0 64.0 99.4 67.0 

UK 

property 

46.4 26.0 46.2 27.0 47.2 31.0 48.2 32.0 48.7 34.0 49.8 33.0 

Cash 3.5 2.0 1.1 1.0 1.8 1.0 1.9 1.0 2.6 2.0 0.2 0.0 

Total 176.3 100.0 171.1 100.0 155.0 100.0 151.3 100.0 141.3 100.0 149.4 100.0 

* The financial information contained in this table has been extracted from the published audited consolidated accounts of the 

Issuer for the years ended 31 March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 and the unaudited half yearly financial 

information of the Issuer for the periods ended 30 September 2013, 30 September 2012 and 31 March 2011. 

As at close of business on 11 February 2014, the Issuer’s portfolio comprised £134.9 million in UK equities 

(73.3%), £46.4 million in UK property (25.2%) and £2.8 million in cash (1.5%).  The investments held by the 
Issuer are listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

The sector distribution of the UK equities portfolio as at 11 February 2014 was industrial 27.26%, consumer 

services 15.51%, financials 13.70%, telecommunications 9.26%, oil and gas 8.15%, utilities 8.57%, 
consumer goods 6.43%, basic materials 6.62% and healthcare 4.50%.   

The table below sets out details of the Issuer’s fifteen largest equity holdings as at close of business on 11 

February 2014: 

 

Holding 

(as at 11 

February 

2014) 

Company Description Market Value (as 

at 11 February 

2014) 

(£) 

285,000 Rotork The world’s leading manufacturer of actuators 

serving particularly the oil, gas and water 

management industries.  

7,127,850 

3,000,000 Legal & General 

Group  

One of the UK’s leading financial services 

companies, specialising in life assurance and 

pensions.  

6,828,000 

475,000 Babcock 

International  

An engineering support services group; the main 

customer is the Ministry of Defence. 

6,626,250 

275,000 Spectris Group Leading supplier of instrumentation and controls  6,514,750 

1,600,000 BT Group The fixed – line telecommunications company 6,328,000 
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1,000,000 Restaurant 

Group 

The company owns chains of restaurants in 

airports and leisure parks. 

6,275,000 

2,815,000 Vodafone The leading mobile telecommunications company  6,235,225 

1,121,000 BP One of the world’s largest energy companies, 

providing fuel, retail services and petrochemicals. 

5,512,518 

325,000 GlaxoSmithKline The UK’s largest pharmaceutical company. 5,339,750 

935,000 N Brown Group An on-line and catalogue retailer. 5,268,725 

1,650,000 Beazley A specialist international insurance company, 

primarily operating in Lloyds. 

4,534,200 

184,000 Unilever The global food, home and personal care 

company. 

4,408,640 

660,000 HSBC The banking group. 4,193,640 

685,000 Halma Operating in 22 countries, the company makes 

products to protect buildings and the environment. 

3,983,275 

3,297,000 John Laing 

Infrastructure 

Fund 

A closed-end investment company investing in 

mature infrastructure projects. 

3,831,114 

Total   83,006,937 

 

The property portfolio comprises retail (out of town 17%; in town 46%), leisure (29%) and industrial (8%), 

property with 56% of the portfolio located in South East England.  Further information on the property 

portfolio is set out in the valuation report in Part 10 of this document. 

The Issuer’s unaudited net asset value as at 31 January 2014 (valuing its debt at par value) was 

£143,310,000 (being 314.62 pence per share) and (valuing its debt at fair value) was £133,384,000 (being 

292.83 pence per share). 

Valuations 

The Issuer’s property portfolio is valued as at 31 March and 30 September each year by an independent 

valuer in compliance with the Practice Statements contained within the RICS Valuation – Professional 

Standards 2012 and in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules of the FCA.  The Issuer’s 

equity portfolio is valued daily in accordance with the Issuer’s accounting policies. 

The monthly net asset value is calculated by BNP Paribas Securities Services SCA and released by the 

Issuer each month to a Regulatory Information Service.  Calculation of the net asset value per share will be 

suspended only in circumstances in which the underlying data necessary to value the investments of the 

Issuer cannot readily or without undue expenditure be obtained.  Any such suspension will be announced 

to an Regulatory Information Services. 

 

Investment restrictions 

The Issuer will manage its investments in a manner consistent with its published investment policy, Chapter 

15 of the Listing Rules, sections 1158 and 1159 of the Corporation Taxes Act 2010.  Accordingly: 

• distributable income will be principally derived from investments.  The Issuer will not conduct any 

trading activity which is significant; 

• not more than 15 per cent. of distributable income will be retained by the Issuer; 

• not more than 15 per cent. of the Issuer’s gross assets will be lent to or invested in the securities of 

any one company; and 
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• the distribution as dividend of surpluses arising from the realisation of investments is prohibited. 

Dividend policy 

The dividends paid to the Issuer’s shareholders depend on, inter alia, the income return on the Issuer’s 

portfolio; they may therefore vary over time.  It is the objective of the Issuer to maximise the return to its 

equity shareholders in the form of long term real growth in dividends and capital value without undue risk 

through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.  Since 1986 (when the current investment 

managers were appointed), the level of dividend per share has increased every year.  Dividends are paid in 

accordance with the Articles and the restriction set out under the paragraph entitlement "Investment 

restrictions" above. 

In the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the Issuer paid an aggregate dividend of 7.80p per share, in the 

financial year ended 31 March 2012 8.05p per share and, in the financial year ended 31 March 2013, 8.30p 

per share. 

Borrowings 

The non-current liabilities of the Issuer and, prior to the Reorganisation, of Audax comprise the 2021 

Debentures and the 2026 Debentures.  The Issuer has no other material non-current liabilities. 

2021 Debentures 

The 2021 Debentures are repayable at par on 31 March 2021 and, prior to the Effective Date, are secured 

over specific assets of the Issuer and of Audax.  Following the Effective Date, the 2021 Debentures will 

continue to be secured over the same specific assets, each of which will be held by the Issuer. 

The Trust Deed contains various covenants with which Audax or, following the Effective Date, the Issuer 

must comply, including the following: 

• the value of the assets which are subject to charge and which secure the 2021 Debentures should 

not be less than one and one-half times the aggregate amount of the 2021 Debentures.  

• the rental income from those assets should not be less than one and one-half times the annual 

interest of the 2021 Debentures (£1.65 million).  

• not more than 20 per cent. of the total value of those assets should be attributable to a single 

property. 

• not more than 10 per cent. of the assets should be attributable to leaseholds having an unexpired 

term of less than 50 years. 

For further details of the terms and conditions of the 2021 Debentures, see Part 6 ("Terms and Conditions 

of the 2021 Debentures") of this document. 

2026 Debentures 

The 2026 Debentures are repayable at par on 30 November 2026 and are secured by a floating charge 

over the property and assets of the Issuer.   

The trust deed dated 30 June 1995 and entered into between the Issuer and PTCL constituting the 2026 

Debentures contains certain restrictions and events of default.  

These include restrictions on the ability of the Issuer to: 

• change its business as an investment trust;  

• make disposals of the whole or a substantial part of its properties, assets or revenues; 

• create security; 

• reduce its share capital; and 

• allow the aggregate amount of (a) the 2026 Debentures; and (b) indebtedness secured by floating 

charges which rank pari passu with the floating charges securing the 2026 Debentures to exceed 

the value of securities beneficially owned by the Issuer and quoted on the London Stock 

Exchange. 
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In addition, the restrictions include a requirement that the Issuer’s aggregate borrowings (on a consolidated 

basis), £35 million as at 31 March 2013, must not at any time exceed the Issuer’s total consolidated capital 

and reserves (equivalent to net assets of £135.82 million as at 31 March 2013). 

Trends 

Equities 

Over the six month period to 30 September 2013, UK equities made further modest progress.  The FTSE 

All Share Index rose by 1.9% and recorded a total return, including income, of +3.8%.  In June 2013, fears 

of ‘tapering’ of Quantitative Easing ("QE") by the Federal Reserve in America caused sharp falls in asset 

prices.  In July 2013, prices recovered and rose further as investors realised that QE would only be tapered 

when economic growth becomes firmly established and that in most parts of the world this is not yet the 

case.  In the UK, statistics announced for growth in GDP in the second quarter (+0.7%) continued the 

improving trend in economic growth and resulted in upgraded forecasts for 2013 and 2014, reversing the 

long trend of downgraded forecasts.  Mid-sized and small companies rose by 7.1% and 10.5% in their 

respective indices, strongly outperforming the FTSE 100 Index of the largest companies, which rose by just 

0.8%.  High yielding companies also underperformed with a rise of just 0.9%. 

In the first quarter of 2013, UK GDP increased by 0.3% and in second quarter growth accelerated to 

+0.7%.  Expectations for the third quarter are now for the fastest rate of growth in a single quarter since 

June 2007.  Forecasts are now being upgraded with +1.3% and +2.0% now generally expected for GDP 

growth in 2013 and 2014.  There has been a steady growth in the equity indices since mid 2012, with one 

exceptional month in June 2013, when fears about the tapering of QE briefly caused sharp falls. 

The FTSE All Share Index currently yields 3.4%, with dividends continuing to grow, and compares with ten 

year gilt yields of 2.7%.  Gilt yields remain unsustainably low, supported by QE and by the statement from 

the new Governor of the Bank of England that Base Rate will remain at 0.5% until the unemployment level 

has fallen to 7%, unless there are exceptional circumstances. 

Properties 

UK commercial property values have been generally increasing since the first quarter of 2013, having been 

decreasing since mid 2011.  The Directors believe that good long term investment value offered by the 

current high yields (6.9% as at 30 September 2013) on well-let property is now more recognised by both 

institutional and debt-financed investors.   

Capital values increased by about 20% from the depths of the property crash in mid-2009 to autumn 2011, 

and then decreased by 5%, before stabilising in early 2013.  Retail and industrial/warehouse property, as 

well as office property outside Central London, fell by more, but rising London office values offset the 

negative total returns on provincial offices, which were the worst performing subsector in the IPD Index. 

In the retail sector, supermarkets (which have longer than average lease lengths and often indexed rent 

reviews) continue to perform better than retail warehouses, high street shops and shopping centres where 

average rental values are still falling.  Retail capital values are, however, also stabilising as institutional 

investors, in particular, are finding current high retail yields attractive.  Capital and rental values for 

warehouse and industrial property have suffered from shortening lease lengths and tenants exercising 

break clauses, or vacating property when leases ended.  Void rates are just starting to decline as the 

properties developed in the period 2005 to 2008 are being sold and investment sentiment in this sector is 

more positive. 

Rental values remain under pressure in provincial offices, but office rents in London are still rising, 

especially in the West End where office buildings are being converted into luxury flats at a great rate as 

residential values increase rapidly. Letting markets are still variable, with tenants slow to sign new leases, 

so valuers’ estimated rental values are still often too optimistic, with generous incentives to tenants not 

factored in. 

Average property capital values are anticipated to rise by about 3% over 2013 as a whole, despite a slight 

drop in the first quarter of 2013, giving average total returns of 9% - 10%.  Average rental values are likely 

to be flat over 2013, but with improving trends towards the end of the year. 
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Investments 

The Issuer’s portfolio has not substantively altered since 31 March 2013 (being the date of the latest 

audited financial statements) and the Issuer has not made any significant investments, nor made any firm 

commitments to do so, since that date. 

Directors 

The Directors of the Issuer are as follows: 

 

Name Date of 

appointment 

as Director 

Function Outside directorships / activities 

James Ferguson 17 July 1989 Chairman Chairman of Scottish Oriental Smaller 

Companies Trust plc 

Chairman of The North American Income Trust 

plc 

Chairman of Northern 3 VCT plc 

Chairman of The Monks Investment Trust plc   

Director of The Independent Investment Trust plc 

Director of Lloyds TSB Foundation for Scotland 

Director of Amati Global Investors Limited 

John Kay 4 February 

1994 

Director  Director of The Law Debenture Corporation plc 

Director of Scottish Mortgage Investment Trust 

plc 

Director of L.D. Pension Plan Trustee Limited 

Director of Horspath Driftway Management 

Company Limited 

Angela Lascelles 6 March 2008 Managing 

Director of 

OLIM Limited 

 

Matthew Oakeshott 1 April 2007 Chairman of 

OLIM Property 

Limited 

Director of Aubrey Investments Limited 

Director of Gakero Limited 

Director of Seagrove Investments Limited 

David Smith  10 July 2009 Director Partner of Shepherd and Wedderburn LLP for 34 

years before retiring in 2008 

The business address of each of the Directors is the Company's registered office at Kintyre House 205, 

West George Street, Glasgow, Scotland G2 2LW.  Angela Lascelles and Matthew Oakeshott are, 

respectively, appointed to the boards of the Issuer’s investment managers, OLIM Limited and OLIM 

Property Limited.  In addition, Matthew Oakeshott is the ultimate beneficial owner of OLIM Property 

Limited.  There may be occasions when the activities of OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited give rise 

to conflicts with the interests of the Issuer (see the first and second paragraphs under the heading 

“Investment managers’ potential conflicts of interest” on page 40 of this document).  As directors of, 

respectively, OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited, Angela Lascelles and Matthew Oakeshott will be 

directly responsible for, and involved with, those activities and, therefore, there may be occasions when the 

interests and duties of Angela Lascelles and / or Matthew Oakeshott conflict with the interests of, and their 

duties to, the Issuer. 
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Save as set out in the preceding paragraph, there are no potential conflicts of interests between the duties 

of the directors to the Issuer and their private interests and duties. 

Within the period of five years preceding the date of this document, none of the Directors has: 

(i) been convicted of any fraudulent offences; 

(ii) been a director or senior manager of any company at the time of bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation 

of such a company;  

(iii) received any official public incrimination or sanction by any statutory or regulatory authorities (including 

any designated professional bodies) or has been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a 

company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of a company; or 

(iv) at any time been adjudged bankrupt or been the subject of any form of individual voluntary 

arrangement.  

Terms of appointment and remuneration 

None of the Directors have a service contract with the Issuer.  The terms of on which each of the Directors 

is appointed provides that a Director shall retire and be subject to re-election at the first annual general 

meeting after his appointment, and at least every three years after that.  Every Director with in excess of 

nine years’ service should stand for annual re-election.  In addition, as Matthew Oakeshott and Angela 

Lascelles are not considered independent, they submit themselves annually for re-election.  A Director may 

be removed without notice and compensation will not be due on leaving office. 

The aggregate remuneration paid and benefits in kind granted to the Directors by the Issuer in respect of 

the financial year ended 31 March 2013 was £79,989.  In the financial year ended 31 March 2013, the 

Directors were entitled to the following remuneration and benefits in kind from the Issuer:  

Director Salary/fees Bonus Benefits in kind Total 

 (£,000) (£,000) (£,000) (£,000) 

James Ferguson 20,000 N/A N/A 20,000 

David Back (resigned as 

director on 13 July 2012) 

3,989 N/A N/A 3,989 

John Kay 14,000 N/A N/A 14,000 

David Smith 14,000 N/A N/A 14,000 

Matthew Oakeshott
1
 14,000 N/A N/A 14,000 

Angela Lascelles
1
 14,000 N/A N/A 14,000 

1 The fees detailed as being paid to Matthew Oakeshott and Angela Lascelles are included in the investment management 

fees of OLIM Property Limited and OLIM Limited respectively in respect of the services provided to the Issuer by Matthew 

Oakeshott and Angela Lascelles.  Further details of the fees paid to OLIM Property Limited and OLIM Limited are set out in 

the section entitled ‘Fees payable’ section in Part 8 (Information on the Issuer) of this document.  

The Issuer has no obligation to contribute or to accrue for any pension, retirement or other similar benefits 

in respect of the Directors.  

Directors’ interests 

As at 11 February 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document), the 

Directors’ respective interests in the share capital of the Issuer are as follows: 

Director
1 

Number of Ordinary Shares held 

James Ferguson 757,000 

James Ferguson - beneficial 62,500 

John Kay 139,110 
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John Kay- trustee 67,830 

Angela Lascelles 554,999 

Angela Lascelles – beneficial 250,000 

Angela Lascelles – trustee 12,000 

Matthew Oakeshott 2,739,793 

Matthew Oakeshott – beneficial 2,544,792 

Matthew Oakeshott – trustee  100,000 

David Smith 16,712 

1 The beneficial interests of the Directors include interests of the Directors’ immediate families. 

Management and running expenses 

Investment Management 

OLIM Limited is employed as the Issuer’s investment manager in respect of its equity portfolio and OLIM 

Property Limited is employed as the Issuer’s investment manager in respect of its property portfolio.   

Investment Managers 

OLIM Limited was incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 on 20 December 

1985 with registered number 01973219 and under the name Speedwide Limited as a company limited by 

shares.  It changed its name to its present name, OLIM Limited, by special resolution dated 31 January 

1986.  

OLIM Limited operates under the Companies Act as a private limited company.  OLIM Limited is authorised 

by the FCA under number 122589.  Its registered office and principal place of business is located at Pollen 

House, 10-12 Cork Street, London W1S 3NP and the telephone number is 020 7439 4400. 

Angela Lascelles is a director of OLIM Limited.  

OLIM Limited was co-founded by Angela Lascelles and Matthew Oakeshott in 1986.  OLIM Limited has 27 

years’ experience as a specialist investment manager working for a range of clients.  Its portfolios vary from 

pure UK equity to multi-asset mandates.  As at 31 December 2013, OLIM Limited had £470 million of funds 

under third party discretionary management. 

OLIM Property Limited was incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 on 7 July 

2011 with registered number 07696904 and under the name OLIM Divestment Company Limited as a 

company limited by shares.  It changed its name to its present name, OLIM Property Limited, by special 

resolution dated 7 February 2012.  

OLIM Property Limited operates under the Companies Act as a private limited company.  OLIM Property 

Limited is authorised by the FCA under number 563156.  Its registered office and principal place of 

business is located at Pollen House, 10-12 Cork Street, London W1S 3NP and the telephone number is 

020 7439 4400. 

Matthew Oakeshott is the ultimate beneficial owner and a director of OLIM Property Limited.   

OLIM Property Limited is an investment manager of property portfolios for pension funds, charities and 

investment trusts.   

Prior to April 2012, the businesses of both OLIM Property Limited and OLIM Limited were carried out by 

OLIM Limited. 

In April 2012, as a result of a management buyout of the property management business then carried out 

by OLIM Limited, the investment management of the Issuer’s portfolio was split between OLIM Limited, 

which continues to manage the Issuer’s equity portfolio, and OLIM Property Limited, which manages the 

Issuer’s property portfolio.  As at 31 December 2013, OLIM Property Limited had £463 million of funds 

under thirds party discretionary management.  

Fees payable 
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Under two separate investment management agreements entered into by the Issuer on 5 April 2012, both 

of which may be terminated by either party on giving one year’s notice, OLIM Limited and OLIM Property 

Limited receive an investment management fee of 2/3 of 1% of the Issuer’s total assets less current 

liabilities, which is allocated 72.5% to OLIM Limited and 27.5% to OLIM Property Limited. 

The total management fees paid to the investment managers in respect of the financial year ended 31 

March 2011 amounted to £967,000 (excluding VAT), in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2012 

amounted to £972,000 (excluding VAT) and in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2013 

amounted to £1,041,000 (excluding VAT). 

OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited are also entitled to a performance fee subject to the achievement 

of certain criteria. The objective is to give the Managers’ a performance fee of 10% of any outperformance 

of the Issuer’s share price total return ("VIT SPTR") over the FTSE All-Share Index share price total return 

("FTSE SPTR").  The performance fee is paid annually in respect of performance over the preceding three 

years.  The fee is payable only if the VIT SPTR has been positive over the period and, in addition, the NAV 

total return has been positive and has exceeded the FTSE SPTR over the period.  The maximum 

performance fee payable in any year is 1/3 of 1% of the Issuer’s total assets less current liabilities and is 

allocated to OLIM Property Limited and OLIM Limited in the same ratio as the investment management fee. 

The total performance fees paid to the investment managers in respect of the financial year ended 31 

March 2011 amounted to £109,000 (excluding VAT), in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2012 

amounted to £504,000 (excluding VAT) and in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2013 

amounted to £125,000 (excluding VAT). 

Investment managers’ potential conflicts of interest  

The investment managers, OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited, may be involved in other financial, 

investment or professional activities that may on occasion give rise to conflicts of interest with the Issuer. 

 In particular, the investment managers currently do, and will continue to, provide property / investment 

management, investment advice or other services in relation to a number of companies, funds or accounts 

that may have similar investment policies to that of the Issuer and may receive management and/or 

performance related fees for doing so. 

The investment managers may give advice or take action with respect to such other clients that differs from 

the advice given or actions taken with respect to the Issuer. 

Each of the investment managers is regulated by the FCA and, in terms of the FCA handbook, is obliged to 

treat its clients fairly.   

In terms of the investment management agreements between the Issuer and each of OLIM Limited and 

OLIM Property Limited, there is a restriction on the investment manager’s directors or employees becoming 

director of any company in which the Issuer has an investment, and the investment managers are required 

to disclose details of their directors’ or employees’ shareholdings in any company in which the Issuer has 

an investment and directorships held in any other company competing with the business of the Issuer. 

Administration and expenses  

In addition to the investment management fees referred to above, the Issuer pays the administration and all 

other fees and expenses incurred in the operation of the business including expenses for registrars, legal, 

auditing and other professional services, the costs of listing the Issuer’s securities, the costs of Directors’ 

insurance and the fees and expenses of the Directors.  For the financial year ended 31 March 2011, these 

fees and expenses amounted to 457,000, for the financial year ended 31 March 2012, £421,000 and, for 

the financial year ended 31 March 2013, £513,000. 

Maven Capital Partners UK LLP acts as company secretary to the Issuer. 

Audit Committee 

Audit matters are reviewed by the Audit and Management Engagement Committee which is specifically 

charged under its terms of reference with: (i) reviewing and monitoring the internal control systems and risk 

management systems on which the Issuer is reliant; (ii) monitoring the integrity of the interim management 

statements and annual and half-yearly financial statements of the Issuer by reviewing, and challenging 

where necessary, the actions and judgements of OLIM Limited, OLIM Property Limited and the third party 
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administrators; (iii) meeting, if required, with the independent auditor to review their proposed programme 

of audit work and their findings and assessing the effectiveness of the audit process; (iv) developing and 

implementing policy on the engagement of the independent auditor to supply non-audit services if 

applicable; (v) reviewing an annual statement from each of OLIM Limited, OLIM Property Limited and the 

Company Secretary detailing the arrangements in place within OLIM Limited, OLIM Property Limited and 

the Company Secretary whereby staff may, in confidence, escalate concerns about possible improprieties 

in matters of financial reporting or other matters ("whistleblowing"); and (vi) making recommendations in 

relation to the appointment of the independent auditor and to approve their remuneration and terms of 

engagement; and (vii) monitoring and reviewing annually the auditors’ independence, objectivity, 

effectiveness, resources and qualification. 

The members of the Audit Committee are James Ferguson, John Kay and David Smith.  The Chairman of 

the Board chairs the Audit Committee.  

Corporate Governance 

Throughout the period covered by the financial information incorporated by reference in this document, the 

Issuer has, except where otherwise explained in that financial information, complied with the UK Financial 

Reporting Committee’s Corporate Governance Code and AIC Code of Corporate Governance by reference 

to the AIC Corporate Governance Guide for Investment Companies. 

Major Shareholders 

To the extent known to the Issuer, the Issuer is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by a third party. 

Substantial interests 

The Issuer has been notified that the shareholders listed in the below table are interested in 3% or more of 

the issued share capital of the Issuer as at 11 February 2014 (being the latest practicable date prior to the 

publication of this document).  

Shareholder Number of ordinary shares held % held 

Matthew Oakeshott and family 5,384,585 11.82 

Alliance Trust Savings Limited  4,179,447 9.18 

Value and Income Trust ISA and 

Share Plan 

2,450,905 5.38 

Brewin Dolphin Securities 1,881,976 4.13 

Barclays Stockbrokers 1,692,926 3.72 

Rathbones 1,670,625 3.67 

Smith & Williamson 1,599,933 3.51 

None of the persons noted in the table above has different voting rights from other Shareholders in respect 

of the ordinary shares held by them. 

Share Capital 

At 31 March 2013, the Issuer had 45,549,975 ordinary shares of 10p nominal in issue, each of which was 

fully paid up.  There were no changes to the authorised and issued share capital of the Company between 

1 April 2010 and 31 March 2013 (being the period covered by the historical financial information) and no 

changes are proposed.  

No share capital of the Issuer is under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under 

option.  The Issuer does not hold any shares in treasury.  

Articles of Association 

General 

The Articles (which are incorporated into this Prospectus by reference) are registered with the Registrar of 

Companies at Companies House.  The objects of the Issuer are unrestricted. 
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In this paragraph "Statutes" means the Companies Act and every statute (including any orders, regulations 

or other subordinate legislation made under the Act) from time to time in force concerning companies so far 

as they apply to the Issuer. 

Rights attaching to the ordinary shares 

The ordinary shares (which at the date of this document are the only class of share in issue in the Issuer) 

have attached thereto the respective rights and privileges and are subject to the respective limitations and 

restrictions set out below: 

Voting rights   

Subject to any terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may for the time being be held, 

on a show of hands every member who is present in person or by proxy at a general meeting of the 

company and every duly authorised corporate representative shall have one vote.  On a poll every member 

who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every share of which he is the holder and 

every person appointed as proxy of a member shall have one vote for every share in respect of which he is 

appointed as proxy and every duly authorised corporate representative may exercise all the powers on 

behalf of the company which authorised him to act as its representative and shall have one vote for every 

share in respect of which he is appointed as the corporate representative. 

Dividend rights 

The Issuer may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the 

respective rights of the members, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.  

The Board may also from time to time pay such interim dividends as appear to them to be justified by the 

financial position of the Issuer and may also pay any dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by 

the Board whenever the financial position of the Issuer, in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment.  

Any dividend unclaimed for a period of 12 years from the date of declaration of such dividend shall be 

forfeited and shall revert to the Issuer.  Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any 

shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the Issuer on or in respect of any shares shall bear 

interest against the Issuer. 

Distribution of assets 

If the Issuer shall be wound up (whether voluntarily or otherwise), the liquidator may, with the sanction of a 

special resolution, divide among the members in specie the whole or any part of the assets of the Issuer, 

and that whether or not the assets shall consist of property of one kind or shall consist of properties of 

different kinds, and may for each purpose set such value as he deems fair upon any one or more class or 

classes of property and may determine how such division shall be carried out as between the members or 

different classes of members. The liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution, vest the whole 

or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of members as the liquidator shall think 

fit, but not so that no member shall be compelled to accept any shares or other property in respect of which 

there is any liability. 

 

Redemption rights 

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes and to any rights previously conferred on the holders of any other 

shares, any share may be issued which is to be redeemed or is liable to be redeemed at the option of the 

Issuer or the holder and the Board is entitled to determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption 

of any such shares. 

Transfer of shares 

The Articles provide that shares may be transferred on the following basis, subject to any specific 

restrictions set out in the Articles (including those detailed below) which may be applicable:  

(i) any member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such 

manner provided for, and subject as provided in the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 and the 

rules of any relevant system, and accordingly no provision of the Articles shall apply in respect of an 
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uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an 

instrument in writing or the production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and 

(ii) any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual 

form or in any other form which the Board may approve. The instrument of transfer shall be executed by or 

on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly paid share) the transferee, and the transferor shall be 

deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is entered in the 

register of members of the Issuer in respect of it.  All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be 

retained by the Issuer. 

However, the Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving any reason for so doing, decline to 

register any transfer of any share which is not fully paid provided that where such share is admitted to the 

Official List of the UK Listing Authority such discretion may not be exercised in such a way as to prevent 

dealings in shares of that class from taking place on an open and proper basis. 

The Board may only decline to register a transfer of an uncertificated share in the circumstances set out in 

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the 

number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds four. 

In relation to certificated Shares, the Board may also decline to register any transfer unless: 

(i) the instrument of transfer is left at the registered office of the Issuer or such other place as the Board 

may from time to time determine, accompanied (save in the case of a transfer by a person to whom the 

Issuer is not required by law to issue a certificate and to whom a certificate has not been issued) by the 

certificate for the share to which it relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to 

show the right of the person executing the instrument of transfer to make the transfer; 

(ii) (if stamp duty is generally chargeable on transfers of certificated shares) the instrument of transfer is 

duly stamped or adjudged or certified as not chargeable to stamp duty; 

(iii) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and 

(iv) in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be 

transferred does not exceed four. 

Variation of rights attaching to the shares 

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, all or any of the rights for the time being attached to any class of 

shares for the time being issued may from time to time (whether or not the Issuer is being wound up) be 

varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths in nominal value of the 

issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction 

of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the 

provisions of the Articles as to general meetings of the Issuer shall, mutatis mutandis, apply to any such 

separate general meeting, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons holding or representing 

by proxy not less than one third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (excluding any shares of 

that class held as treasury shares), (but so that at any adjourned meeting one holder present in person or 

by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum), that every holder of shares of 

the class present in person or by proxy (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) shall 

be entitled on a poll to one vote for every share of the class held by him (subject to any rights or restrictions 

attached to any class of shares) and that any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy 

may demand a poll. The foregoing provisions shall apply to the variation of any special rights which only 

attach to certain shares of a particular class as if the shares carrying such special rights formed a separate 

class. 

Alteration of capital 

The Issuer may from time to time by ordinary resolution: 

(i) increase its share capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such amount as the resolution shall 

prescribe; 

(ii) consolidate, or consolidate and then divide, all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount 

than its existing shares; 
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(iii) sub-divide all or any of its shares into shares of smaller amounts and the resolution may determine that, 

as between the shares resulting from the sub-division, any of them may be given any preferred, deferred or 

other rights or be subject to any restrictions as the Issuer has power to attach to unissued or new shares as 

compared with the others; and 

(iv) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to 

be taken by any person and diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so 

cancelled. 

Capital reserve 

The Board shall establish a reserve to be called the "capital reserve" and shall either carry to the credit of 

such reserve from time to time all capital profits or appreciations arising on the sale, transposition, payment 

of or revaluation of any investment or other capital asset of the Issuer in excess of the book value thereof 

or apply the same in providing for depreciation or contingencies. For the avoidance of doubt, accrued but 

unpaid interest or any sum received in respect of accrued but unpaid interest shall not be treated as capital 

profits or appreciations arising on the sale, transposition, payment off of or revaluation of any investment or 

other capital asset. Any losses realised on the sale, transposition, payment off of or revaluation of any 

investment or other capital asset and any other expenses, loss or liability (or provision thereof) considered 

by the Board to be of a capital nature shall be carried to the debit of the capital reserve except in so far as 

the Board may in its discretion decide to make good the same out of other funds of the Issuer. Any 

increase or diminution in the amount of any index-linked stock or other index-linked obligation of the Issuer 

shall be carried to the debit or credit of the capital reserve, except so far as the Board may in its discretion 

decide to make good the same out of or credit the same to other funds or reserves of the Issuer 

Subject to the Statutes and without prejudice to the foregoing generality, the Board may determine whether 

any amount received by the Issuer is to be dealt with as income or capital or partly one and partly the other. 

The Board may determine whether any cost, liability or expense (including, without limitation, any costs 

incurred or sums expended in connection with the management of the assets of the Issuer or finance costs 

(including, without limitation, any interest payable by the Issuer in respect of any borrowings of the Issuer)) 

is to be treated as a cost, liability or expense chargeable to capital or to revenues or partly one and partly 

the other, having regard, inter alia, to the investment objectives of the Issuer, and to the extent the Board 

determines that any such cost, liability or expense should reasonably and fairly be apportioned to capital 

the Board may debit or charge the same to the capital reserve. 

Any surplus over the book value derived from the sale or realisation of any capital asset and any other 

sums representing capital profits within the meaning of section 832 of the Companies Act 2006 or any other 

accretions to capital assets, including in particular any sums resulting from the writing up of the book values 

of any capital assets and any surpluses arising from the realisation of investments, shall not be transferred 

to the revenue account or be regarded or treated as profits of the Issuer available for dividend or any other 

distribution within the meaning ascribed thereto by section 829 of the Companies Act 2006 (otherwise than 

by way of the redemption or purchase of any of the shares in accordance with Chapter 3 or 4 of Part 18 of 

the Companies Act 2006). 

General Meetings 

Annual general meetings shall be convened by not less than 21 clear days’ notice in writing. Subject to the 

Statutes, all other general meetings shall be convened by not less than 14 clear days’ notice in writing. The 

notice shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting, and the general nature of the business to be 

transacted. Notice of every general meeting shall be given to all members other than any who, under the 

provisions of the Articles or the terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such 

notices from the Issuer, and also to the auditors of the Issuer.  

Notwithstanding that a meeting of the Issuer is convened by shorter notice, it shall be deemed to have 

been properly convened if it is so agreed: 

(i) in the case of an annual general meeting, by all members entitled to attend and vote at the 
meeting; and 

(ii) in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the members having a right to attend 
and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not less than 95 per cent. in nominal 
value of the shares giving that right. 
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The Board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches 

or other security arrangements or restrictions as the Board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances 

and shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to, or to authorise some one or more persons who shall 

include a Director or the secretary or the chairman of the meeting to, refuse entry to, or to eject from, such 

general meeting any person who fails to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply with such security 

arrangements or restrictions. 

Appointment and removal of directors 

Subject to the provisions of the Articles, and unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the 

Issuer, the number of directors (disregarding alternate directors) shall not be less than two. 

The Issuer may by ordinary resolution appoint any person who is willing to act to be a Director (either as an 

addition to the Board or to fill a vacancy). 

The Board may also appoint any person who is willing to act to be a Director to the Board (either as an 

addition or to fill a vacancy).  Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next annual general 

meeting and shall then be eligible for election.  

Each Director shall retire from office at the third annual general meeting after the annual general meeting at 

which he was last elected.  

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Statutes, the Issuer may remove a Director at any 

time by special resolution. The office of Director shall also be vacated if: 

(i) he resigns his office by notice in writing; or 

(ii) by notice in writing he offers to resign and the Board resolves to accept such offer; or 

(iii) by notice in writing his resignation is requested by all of the other Directors and all of the other 

Directors are not less than three in number; or 

(iv) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that Director gives a written opinion to the Issuer 

stating that that Director has become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a director and may 

remain so for more than three months; or 

(v)  by reason of a Director’s mental health, a court makes an order which wholly or partly prevents that 

Director from personally exercising any powers or rights which that Director would otherwise have; or 

(vi) he is absent without the permission of the Board from meetings of the Board (whether or not an 

alternate director appointed by him attends) for six consecutive months and the Board resolves that his 

office is vacated; or 

(vii)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; or 

(viii) he is prohibited by law from being a Director; or 

(ix) he ceases to be a Director by virtue of company law or is removed from office pursuant to the Articles. 

Proceedings of Directors 

Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of 

votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.  

The quorum at Board meetings shall be two Directors (unless fixed at another number by the Board). 

Directors’ interests 

No Director or proposed or intending director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting with the 

Issuer, either with regard to his tenure of any office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or in any other 

manner whatever, nor shall any contract in which any Director is in any way interested be liable to be 

avoided, nor shall any Director who is so interested be liable to account to the Issuer or the members for 

any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by the contract by reason of the Director holding that 

office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established. 

A Director may hold any other office or place of profit with the Issuer (except that of the auditor) in 

conjunction with his office of Director for such period (subject to the provisions of the Statutes) and upon 
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such other terms as the Board may decide, and may be paid such extra remuneration for so doing (whether 

by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board or any committee 

authorised by the Board may decide, and either in addition or in lieu of any remuneration provided for by or 

pursuant to any other article of the Articles. 

A Director may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested in, any company 

promoted by the Issuer or in which the Issuer may be interested or as regards which it has any power of 

appointment, and shall not be liable to account to the Issuer or the members for any remuneration, profit or 

other benefit received by him/her as a director or officer of or from his interest in the other company. 

A Director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity (otherwise than as auditor) and he or his 

firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a Director. 

A Director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the Board 

concerning his own appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own 

appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit with the Issuer or any other company in which the 

Issuer is interested but, where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the 

settlement or variation of the terms or the appointment, of two or more directors to offices or places of profit 

with the Issuer or any other company in which the Issuer is interested, a separate resolution may be put in 

relation to each Director and in that case each of the Directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be 

counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the 

settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment or the appointment of another 

Director to an office or place of profit with a company in which the Issuer is interested and the Director 

seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum owns one per cent. or more of it. 

A Director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the Board in 

respect of any actual or proposed transaction or arrangement with the Issuer in which he has an interest 

which (taken together with any interest of any person connected with him) is to his knowledge an interest of 

which he is aware, or ought reasonably to be aware, does conflict, or can reasonably be regarded as likely 

to give rise to a conflict, with the interests of the Issuer and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted 

(subject to certain carve-outs). 

A Director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in an actual or proposed transaction 

or arrangement with the Issuer shall declare the nature and extent of his interest at the meeting of the 

Board at which the question of entering into the contract is first taken into consideration, if he knows his 

interest then exists, or in any other case at the first meeting of the Board after he knows that he is or has 

become so interested. 

In respect of any situation in which a Director has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or 

possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Issuer, the Board may authorise the matter, on such terms as 

they may determine, provided that: (i) the Director has declared the full nature and extent of the situation to 

the Board; and (ii) it is proposed (either by the Director in question or another) that the Board authorise the 

matter and upon the resolution to do so the requirement for the quorum is met without counting the Director 

in question and the resolution was agreed to without such Director voting or would have been agreed to if 

that conflicted Director’s vote had not been counted. 

Subject to the Statutes, the Issuer may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the above provisions on 

directors’ conflicts to any extent or ratify any contract not properly authorised by reason of a contravention 

of the Articles. 

Directors’ fees, expenses and remuneration 

The fees paid to Directors for their services as Directors shall not exceed £75,000 per annum in aggregate 

or such higher amount as the Issuer may by ordinary resolution determine and such remuneration shall be 

divided between the Directors as the Board shall agree or, failing agreement, equally. 

Any Director who is appointed to any executive office or who performs services which, in the opinion of the 

Board or any committee authorised by the Board, go beyond the ordinary duties of a Director, may be paid 

such extra remuneration as the Board (or any committee thereof) may think fit. 

A Director may also be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and incidental expenses of attending and 

returning from meetings of the Board (or any committee thereof) and any other meeting that he is entitled to 
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attend and all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably incurred by him in the conduct of the 

Issuer’s business or in the discharge of his duties.  

Untraced shareholders  

Subject to various notice requirements, the Issuer may sell on the London Stock Exchange at the best price 

reasonably obtainable, any certificated share (including further shares issued in respect of that share) 

provided that: (i) for a period of 12 years at least three dividends on those shares have become payable; (ii) 

no such dividend has been claimed by presentation at a bank of the relevant cheque or warrant or been 

satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder of (or person entitled to) the 

shares or otherwise been transferred by means of a relevant system; and (iii) so far as the Directors are 

aware the Issuer has not received any communication during the relevant period from the holder of, or 

person entitled to those shares. 

Borrowing powers 

The Directors may, subject to the restrictions set out below, exercise all of the powers of the Issuer to 

borrow money and to mortgage or charge its undertaking, property and uncalled capital, and to issue 

debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation 

of the Issuer or of any third party. 

The Directors shall restrict the borrowings of the Issuer and exercise all voting and other rights or powers of 

control exercisable by the Issuer in relation to its subsidiaries (if any) so as to secure (so far, as regards 

subsidiaries, as by such exercise they can secure) that the aggregate principal amount (including any fixed 

or minimum premium payable on final repayment) outstanding in respect of borrowings (whether secured 

or not) by the Issuer of and / or any of its subsidiary companies (exclusive of money outstanding in respect 

of borrowings by the Issuer from any such subsidiary or by any such subsidiary from another such 

subsidiary or from the Issuer) shall not at any time without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of 

the Issuer exceed a sum equal to three times the adjusted total of capital and reserves and shall not (until 

such time as the first consolidated balance sheet and profit and loss account of the Issuer shall be 

published) exceed the sum of £15,000,000. 

Material contracts 

Save as described below, the Issuer has not (i) entered into any material contracts (other than contracts in 

the ordinary course of business) in the two years immediately preceding the date of this document; or (ii) 

entered into any contracts that contain provisions under which the Issuer has any obligation or entitlement 

that is material to the Issuer as at the date of this document. 

Investment management agreement with OLIM Limited 

Under the terms of the investment management agreement between the Issuer and OLIM Limited entered 

into in April 2012 and a side letter to that agreement dated 24 September 2013, the annual investment 

management fee payable to OLIM Limited shall be calculated at the rate of 72.5% of 2/3 of 1% per cent of 

the gross assets of the Issuer.  The management fee will remain at this level for as long as the valuation of 

the property portfolio is in the range of 25-30% of the valuation of the Issuer’s total investment portfolio.  If 

the property portfolio moves out of this range as at 31 March in any year, this will give rise to a further 

review by the Issuer of the level of management fee payable to OLIM Limited. 

OLIM Limited is also entitled to a performance fee under the investment management agreement, subject 

to the achievement of certain criteria. The performance fee is paid annually in respect of performance over 

the preceding three years. The level of any performance fee payable to OLIM Limited in respect of a three 

year period will be on the basis of the average of the management fee rate over each of the previous three 

years. 

The investment management agreement will continue unless and until terminated by either party giving to 

the other not less than one year’s notice.  In addition, the Issuer is entitled, by giving written notice to OLIM 

Limited, to terminate the investment management agreement immediately upon certain events relating to 

OLIM Limited, including: (i) insolvency events; (ii) on a material breach of the agreement; (iii) on a change 

of control; (iv) if Angela Lascelles ceases to be an executive director; and loss of appropriate FCA 

authorisation. 
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OLIM Limited is entitled, by giving notice to the Issuer, to terminate the investment management agreement 

immediately upon certain events relating to the Issuer, including: (i) insolvency events; or (ii) non-payment 

of fees.  In each of these circumstances (and on any termination other than an immediate termination by 

the Issuer as described above), OLIM Limited shall be entitled to receive a compensation payment based 

on a formula set out in the investment management agreement. 

Investment management agreement with OLIM Property Limited 

Under the terms of the investment management agreement between the Issuer and OLIM Property Limited 

entered into in March 2012 and a side letter to that agreement dated 24 September 2013, the annual 

investment management fee payable to OLIM Property Limited shall be calculated at the rate of 27.5% of 

one per cent of the gross assets of the Issuer.  The management fee will remain at this level for as long as 

the valuation of the property portfolio is in the range of 25-30% of the valuation of the Issuer’s total 

investment portfolio.  If the property portfolio moves out of this range as at 31 March in any year, this will 

give rise to a further review by the Issuer of the level of management fee payable to OLIM Property Limited 

and any change to the amount of the management fee following such review will be effective from the first 

day of the following financial year. 

OLIM Property Limited is also entitled to a performance fee under the investment management agreement, 

subject to the achievement of certain criteria. The performance fee is paid annually in respect of 

performance over the preceding three years. The level of any performance fee payable to OLIM Property 

Limited in respect of a three year period will be on the basis of the average of the management fee rate 

over each of the previous three years. 

The investment management agreement will continue unless and until terminated by either party giving to 

the other not less than one year’s notice.  In addition, the Issuer is entitled, by giving written notice to OLIM 

Property Limited, to terminate the investment management agreement immediately upon certain events 

relating to OLIM Property Limited, including: (i) insolvency events; (ii) on a material breach of the 

agreement; (iii) on a change of control; (iv) if Matthew Oakeshott ceases to be an executive director; and 

loss of appropriate FCA authorisation. 

OLIM Property Limited is entitled, by giving notice to the Issuer, to terminate the investment management 

agreement immediately upon certain events relating to the Issuer, including: (i) insolvency events; or (ii) 

non-payment of fees.  In each of these circumstances (and on any termination other than an immediate 

termination by the Issuer as described above), OLIM Property Limited shall be entitled to receive a 

compensation payment based on a formula set out in the investment management agreement. 

Custodian Agreement 

Pursuant to the terms of the custody agreement entered into in January 2005 between the Issuer and The 

Bank of New York Mellon, a banking corporation organised pursuant to the laws of the State of New York 

with registered number FC005522 and operating through its branch in London, at One Canada Square, 

London E14 5AL (the "Custodian"), the Custodian is entrusted with the securities of the Issuer.  The 

Custodian was incorporated on 1 June 1965 in the United States and is domiciled in the United States. The 

Issuer may deposit cash and any securities with the Custodian, in whatever form.   

The Custodian may from time to time appoint any sub-custodian in connection with the performance of its 

duties under the custodian agreement and will use reasonable care in the selection and continued 

appointment of sub-custodians. 

The custody agreement was entered into in January 2005 and will continue in full force and effect until 

terminated by either the Custodian or the Issuer upon delivery of ninety days prior written notice to the 

other party. The custody agreement shall terminate automatically upon the Issuer being subject to 

insolvency or analogous proceedings in any jurisdiction.   

The Issuer shall pay the Custodian for its services under the custodian agreement an amount by way of 

fees as agreed in writing between the Issuer and the Custodian from time to time (the fees in respect of the 

quarter ended 30 September 2013 were £10,792.15). 

The custodian agreement contains provisions for the indemnification by the Issuer of the Custodian and its 

respective nominees against and from any and all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, costs, expenses and 

judgements including reasonable legal fees and expenses howsoever arising from or in connection with the 
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custodian agreement or the performance of their duties under the custodian agreement including disputes 

between the parties or the enforcement of the custodian agreement, provided that nothing in the custodian 

agreement shall require that the Custodian or its nominee companies be indemnified for their respective 

fraud, negligence or wilful default. 

Secretarial and administration agreement 

Pursuant to the terms of the secretarial and administration agreement entered into on 7 January 2013 

between the Issuer, Audax and Maven Capital Partners UK LLP, a limited liability partnership incorporated 

under the laws of England and Wales (registered no. OC339387) and having its registered office at Queens 

Chambers, 5 John Dalton Street, Manchester M2 6ET ("Maven"), the Issuer appointed Maven to act as 

secretary of the Issuer.   

The secretarial and administration agreement became effective on 1 February 2013 for an initial period of 

three years and will continue in full force and effect until terminated in accordance with the agreement.  The 

agreement is terminable by either the Issuer or Maven giving to the other party no less than six months 

prior notice in writing to expire on 1 February 2016 or on any date thereafter.  In addition, both the Issuer 

and Maven are entitled to terminate the agreement immediately upon certain events relating to the other 

party including (i) insolvency events; (ii) material breach of the agreement; and in relation to Maven (iii) loss 

of FCA authorisation or qualifications to act as a secretary. 

As consideration for the performance of Maven’s duties under the agreement, the Issuer shall pay to 

Maven an annual secretarial and administration fee.  This fee is £130,000 for the first year, and, subject to 

being upwards index linked annually, £170,000 thereafter. 

The agreement contains mutual indemnities in terms of which each party undertakes to indemnify, and 

keep indemnified, the other on demand and save it harmless against all costs, claims and demands 

incurred or suffered by the other arising (i) in respect of the Issuer, directly out of the proper performance 

by Maven of its duties under the agreement, save to the extent that such costs, claims or demands arise by 

reason of any breach by Maven of its duties or obligations under the agreement or the negligence, wilful 

default or fraud of Maven or any of its officers, or agents; and (ii) in respect of Maven, out of any breach by 

Maven of its duties or obligations under the agreement or the negligence, wilful default or fraud of Maven or 

any of its officers, employees or agents. 
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PART 9 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Statutory accounts for the three financial years to 31 March 2013 

The statutory accounts of the Issuer for the three financial years ended 31 March 2011, 31 March 2012 and 

31 March 2013, in respect of which the Issuer’s former auditors, Chiene + Tait of 61 Dublin Street, 

Edinburgh EH3 6NL, made unqualified reports under s455 of the Companies Act 2006, have in each case 

been delivered to the Registrar of Companies in Scotland.  Such reports, together with copies of the 

Issuer’s unaudited half yearly financial statements for the six months ended, respectively, 30 September 

2011, 30 September 2012 and 30 September 2013, are incorporated into this document by reference and 

can be obtained from the website www.olim.co.uk.  Copies of all documents incorporated by reference into 

this document are also available for inspection at the address set out in paragraph 2 of Part 4 of this 

document.  

Historical financial information 

Historical financial information relating to the Issuer on the matters referred to below is included in the 

published annual report and audited accounts of the Company for the years stated as set out in the table 

below and is expressly incorporated by reference into this document. 

 Statutory accounts for 

year ended 31 March 

2011 

Statutory accounts for 

the year ended 31 

March 2012 

Statutory accounts for 

year ended 31 March 

2013 

Nature of Information Page No. Page No. Page No. 

Financial highlights 2 2 2 

Balance sheet 28-29 28-29 30-31 

Statement of cash flow 31-32 31-32 33-34 

Notes to the financial statements 33-52 33-52 35-55 

Dividends paid 3 3 3 

Audit report 54-55 54-55 26-27 

Unaudited financial highlights and unaudited financial statements relating to the Issuer for the six months 

ended, respectively, 30 September 2011, 30 September 2012 and 30 September 2013, are included in the 

Issuer’s unaudited half yearly financial statements for those years and are expressly incorporated by 

reference into this document. 

Selected financial information 

The table below sets out the Issuer’s summary financial information for the periods indicated.  The data has 

been extracted, without adjustment, from the published audited consolidated accounts of the Issuer for the 

years ended 31 March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 and the unaudited half yearly financial 

information of the Issuer for the periods ended 30 September 2013, 30 September 2012 and 30 September 

2011.  Investors should read the full text of this document, including the documents incorporated by 

reference, and not rely on this summary.   

 30 September 

2013 

31 March 

2013 

30 September 

2012 

31 March 

2012 

30 September 

2011 

31 March 

2011 

Net assets 

(valuing debt at 

par) 

£140,966,000 £135,843,000 £119,459,000 £115,597,000 £105,383,000 £113,463,000 

Net asset value 

per share (valuing 

309.48p 298.23p 262.26p 253.78p 231.36p 249.10p 
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debt at par) 

Net asset value 

per share (valuing 

debt at market) 

287.72p 269.78p 231.80p 227.58p 205.88p 233.67p 

Profit before tax £7,082,000 £23,568,000 £5,572,000 £5,545,000 (£6,289,000) £11,139,000 

Total assets £177,776,000 £172,869,000 £156,622,000 £153,450,000 £142,876,000 £151,900,000 

Total non-current 

assets 

£172,795,000 £170,040,000 £153,214,000 £149,447,000 £138,695,000 £149,256,000 

Basic earnings 

per share 

15.55p 52.60p 12.63p 12.57p (13.75p) 24.94p 

Operating and financial review 

The published annual report and accounts of the Issuer for the three financial years ended 31 March 2011, 

31 March 2012 and 31 March 2013 included, on the pages indicated in the table below, descriptions of the 

Issuer’s financial condition (in both capital and revenue terms), changes in its financial condition and details 

of the Issuer’s portfolio of investments for each of those years: 

 Statutory accounts for 

year ended 31 March 

2011 

Statutory accounts for the 

year ended 31 March 

2012 

Statutory accounts for 

year ended 31 March 

2013 

 

Nature of information Page No. Page No. Page No.  

Chairman's statement 3 3 3  

Investment managers’ report 5-13 5-14 5-14  

 

The information referred to above is incorporated into this document by reference. 
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PART 11 

TAXATION 

The following applies only to persons who are the beneficial owners of 2021 Debentures and is a 

summary of the Issuer's understanding of current law and practice in the United Kingdom relating 

to certain aspects of United Kingdom taxation. Some aspects do not apply to certain classes of 

person (such as dealers and persons connected with the Issuer) to whom special rules may apply. 

Holders of 2021 Debentures who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the United 

Kingdom or who may be unsure as to their tax position should seek their own professional advice. 

A.  INTEREST ON THE 2021 DEBENTURES 

Payment of interest on the 2021 Debentures 

Payments of interest on the 2021 Debentures may be made without deduction or withholding on account of 

United Kingdom income tax provided that the 2021 Debentures continue to be issued by a company and 

listed on a "recognised stock exchange" within the meaning of section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007. 

The London Stock Exchange is a recognised stock exchange. Securities are treated as listed on the 

London Stock Exchange if they are admitted to the Official List by the UK Listing Authority and admitted to 

trading by the London Stock Exchange. Provided, therefore, that the 2021 Debentures remain so listed, 

interest on the 2021 Debentures will be payable without withholding or deduction on account of United 

Kingdom tax. 

Interest on the 2021 Debentures may also be paid without withholding or deduction on account of United 

Kingdom tax where interest on the 2021 Debentures is paid to a person who belongs in the United 

Kingdom for United Kingdom tax purposes and, at the time the payment is made, the Issuer reasonably 

believes (and any person by or through whom interest on the 2021 Debentures is paid reasonably believes) 

that the beneficial owner is within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax as regards the payment of 

interest, provided that HMRC has not given a direction (in circumstances where it has reasonable grounds 

to believe that it is likely that the above exemption is not available in respect of such payment of interest at 

the time the payment is made) that the interest should be paid under deduction of tax. 

In other cases, an amount must generally be withheld from payments of interest on the 2021 Debentures 

on account of United Kingdom income tax at the basic rate (currently 20%). However, where an applicable 

double tax treaty provides for a lower rate of withholding tax (or for no tax to be withheld) in relation to a 

holder of 2021 Debentures, HMRC can issue a notice to the Issuer to pay interest to the holder without 

deduction of tax (or for interest to be paid with tax deducted at the lower rate provided for in the relevant 

double tax treaty).  Holders of 2021 Debentures who are individuals may wish to note that HMRC has 

power to obtain information (including the name and address of the beneficial owner of the interest) from 

any person in the United Kingdom who either pays interest to or receives interest for the benefit of an 

individual. Information so obtained may, in certain circumstances, be exchanged by HMRC with the tax 

authorities of the jurisdiction in which the holder is resident for tax purposes. 

EU Savings Directive 

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to 

provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) 

paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual, or certain other persons, resident in that other 

Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless 

during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the 

ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements 

relating to information exchange with certain other countries).  A number of non-EU countries and territories 

have adopted or agreed to adopt similar measures. 

Further United Kingdom Income Tax Issues 

Interest on the 2021 Debentures constitutes United Kingdom source income for tax purposes and, as such, 

may be subject to income tax by direct assessment even where paid without withholding.  However, 

interest with a United Kingdom source received without deduction or withholding on account of United 

Kingdom tax will not be chargeable to United Kingdom tax in the hands of a holder of 2021 Debentures 

(other than certain trustees) who is not resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom unless that holder 
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carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a United Kingdom branch or 

agency in connection with which the interest is received or to which the 2021 Debentures are attributable 

(or where that holder is a company, unless that holder carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a 

permanent establishment in connection with which the interest is received or to which the 2021 Debentures 

are attributable).  There are exemptions for interest received by certain categories of agent (such as some 

brokers and investment managers). The provisions of an applicable double taxation treaty may also be 

relevant for such holders. 

B.  UNITED KINGDOM CORPORATION TAX PAYERS 

In general, holders of 2021 Debentures which are within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax will 

be charged to tax as income on all returns, profits or gains on, and fluctuations in value of, the 2021 

Debentures (whether attributable to currency fluctuations or otherwise) broadly in accordance with their 

statutory accounting treatment. 

C.  OTHER UNITED KINGDOM TAX PAYERS 

Taxation of Chargeable Gains 

It is expected that the 2021 Debentures will be treated by HMRC as qualifying corporate bonds within the 

meaning of section 117 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992.  Accordingly, a disposal of the 2021 

Debentures by an individual holder should not give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the 

purposes of the United Kingdom taxation of chargeable gains depending on the individual circumstances of 

that holder. 

Accrued Income Scheme 

On a disposal of 2021 Debentures by a holder, any interest which has accrued since the last interest 

payment date may be chargeable to tax as income under the rules of the accrued income scheme if that 

holder is resident in the United Kingdom or carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a branch or 

agency to which the 2021 Debentures are attributable. Holders of the 2021 Debentures are advised to 

consult their own professional advisers for further information about the accrued income scheme. 

D.  STAMP DUTY AND STAMP DUTY RESERVE TAX 

No United Kingdom stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax (SDRT) is payable on a transfer of the 2021 

Debentures. 

E.  AMENDMENTS TO THE TRUST DEED / SUBSTITUTION  

The amendments to the Trust Deed and substitution of the Issuer as debtor of the 2021 Debentures should 

not give rise to a disposal of the 2021 Debentures, or therefore any liability to tax of chargeable gains. 
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PART 12 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

1. The substitution of the Issuer as debtor of the 2021 Debentures has been authorised by a 

resolution of a committee of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 13 February 2014 and 

approval by Extraordinary Resolution of the holders of the 2021 Debentures passed on 11 March 

2014. 

2. The Issuer is not regulated as a collective investment scheme (or otherwise) and is not authorised 

by the Financial Conduct Authority.  The ordinary shares in the capital of the Issuer and the 2026 

Debentures are, and the 2021 Debentures following the Effective Date are to be, admitted to the 

Official List in the name of the Issuer and therefore the Issuer is subject to the Listing Rules, the 

Prospectus Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the FCA. 

3. There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which 

are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this 

Prospectus which may have or have had in such period a significant effect on the financial position 

or profitability of the Issuer or the Issuer’s group. 

4. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or the Issuer’s 

group since 30 September 2013. There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of 

the Issuer or its subsidiaries since 31 March 2013.  There have been no material changes to the 

valuations of the properties set out in Part 10 (Valuation Report) of this document since 30 

September 2013. 

5. Save as set out in paragraph 6 of this Part 12 (Additional Information) of this document, inter-

company balances due between the Issuer and Audax and for the investment management 

agreements with OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited summarised in paragraph entitled 

"Material Contracts" in Part 8 (Information on the Issuer) of this document, the Issuer has not 

entered into any related party transactions at any time from 1 April 2010 to 11 February 2014 

(being the latest practicable date before publication of this document). 

6. Two properties were transferred at an arm’s length price of £1.65m from Audax to the Issuer and a 

dividend of £1.15m was paid by Audax to the Issuer during the financial year ended 31 March 

2012.  

7. The auditors of the Issuer were, for the financial periods under review, Chiene + Tait, which is 

registered to carry out audit work by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland, and which 

have audited, without qualification, the financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years 

ended 31 March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011.  The address of Chiene + Tait is 61 

Dublin Street, Edinburgh EH3 6NL.  Chiene and Tait resigned as auditors of the Issuer on 20 

December 2013.  Grant Thornton UK LLP were subsequently appointed as auditors of the Issuer 

on 31 January 2014. 

8. The financial information included in this Prospectus (other than the Issuer's financial statements 

which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus) does not constitute the statutory accounts 

of the Issuer within the meaning of Section 435(1) and (2) of the Companies Act 2006 for any 

period presented.  The auditors have made a report under Chapter 3 of Part 16 Of the Companies 

Act 2006 on the statutory accounts of the Issuer for each of the years ended 31 March 2013, 31 

March 2012 and 31 March 2011 which reports were unqualified and did not contain any statement 

as is described in Sections 498(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006.  Statutory accounts of the 

Issuer have been delivered to the Registrar of Companies in Scotland for each of the years ended 

31 March 2013, 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011. 

9. The Company’s custodian is The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation (formerly The Bank of New 

York). The custodian was incorporated in Delaware on 1 June 1965 and its registered address is at 

One Wall Street, New York, New York 10005 USA.  The custodian is registered as a foreign 

company in the United Kingdom under registration number FC005522.  The principal place of 

business of the custodian in the UK is at 1 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB 
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(telephone number +44 20 7570 1784). The custodian’s business in the UK is regulated by the 

FCA.  

10. Jones Lang LaSalle has given and not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion of the references to its 

name in the form and context in which they appear in this document and of its report in Part 10 

(Valuation) of this document. Jones Lang LaSalle has authorised the consents of that report for the 

purposes of Rule 5.5.4(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules. 

11. Copies of the following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the offices of 

Shepherd and Wedderburn LLP, Condor House, 10 St. Paul’s Churchyard, London EC4M 8AL: 

a. The Existing Trust Deed 

b. The Deed of Amendment 

c. The Deed of Substitution  

d. The Deed of Release 

e. Articles of association of the Issuer 

f. Auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 

g. Auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 

h. Auditors’ report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 

i. The  unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 

2011  

j. The  unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 

2012 

k. The unaudited half-yearly financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 

2013 

12. The ISIN for the 2021 Debentures will be GB00BJVDZP03 and the SEDOL Code will be BJVDZP0. 
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PART 13 

DEFINITIONS 

 

The following definitions apply throughout this document, unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Admission" admission of all of the issued and to be issued 2021 Debentures to the 

Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange's main market 

for listed securities becoming effective in accordance with, respectively, 

the Listing Rules and the Admission and Disclosure Standards; 

"Admission and Disclosure 

Standards" 

the requirements contained in the London Stock Exchange's 

publication entitled "Admission and Disclosure Standards", which 

contains, among other things, the admission requirements to be 

observed by companies seeking admission to trading on the London 

Stock Exchange's main market for listed securities; 

"AIC" the Association of Investment Companies; 

"Articles" the articles of association of the Issuer adopted by special 

resolution passed on 10 July 2009; 

"Audax" Audax Properties plc, a company incorporated in England and 

Wales under registered number 02027379 and having its registered 

office at 4
th
 Floor, Alliance House, 12 Caxton Street, London SW1H 

0QS; 

"Board" or "Directors" the directors of the Issuer, whose names appear on page 37 of this 

document; 

"Charged Property Portfolio" the properties charged in favour of the Trustee in security for the 

2021 Debentures that will comprise, as at the Effective Date, the 

properties in Scotland at Ayr – 83 High Street, Kelso – 8/16 

Horsemarket and Oban – Edinburgh Woollen Mill, 42 George Street 

and the properties in England and Wales at Canterbury – 13 St 

Dunstans Street, Kings Heath – 155 High Street, London – 48 

Cleaver Square, London – 9/10 West Smithfield, Lymington – 78-80 

High Street, Oxford – 171/173 Cumnor Hill, Sevenoaks – 87/93 

High Street and Risca 75/77 Tredegar Street. 

"Companies Act" the Companies Act 2006, as amended; 

"Deed of Amendment" the deed of amendment to be entered into between Audax, the 

Issuer and the Trustee pursuant to the First Extraordinary 

Resolution; 

"Deed of Release" the deed of release to be entered into between Audax and the 

Trustee pursuant to the Second Extraordinary Resolution; 

"Deed of Substitution" the deed of substitution to be entered into between Audax, the 

Issuer and the Trustee pursuant to the Second Extraordinary 

Resolution; 

"Disclosure and Transparency 

Rules" 

the rules relating to the disclosure of information made by the FCA under 

section 73A of FSMA; 

"EEA" the European Union, Iceland, Norway and Liechtenstein; 

"Effective Date" the date upon which Admission will become effective, expected to 

be 28 March 2014; 

"Event of Default" has the meaning given in paragraph 11 of Part 6 of this Prospectus; 
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"Exchange Act" the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; 

"Existing Trust Deed" together, (1) a trust deed dated 7 August 1986 between Audax, the 

Issuer and L.D.C. Trustees Limited (formerly Eagle Star Trust 

Company Limited) constituting and securing the First Debenture 

Stock; (2) a supplemental trust deed dated 23 March 1988 between 

Audax, the Issuer and L.D.C. Trustees Limited constituting and 

securing the Second Debenture Stock; (3) a second supplemental 

trust deed dated 27 September 1991 between Audax, the Issuer 

and L.D.C. Trustees Limited in terms of which the First Debenture 

Stock and the Second Debenture Stock became known as the 2021 

Debentures; and (4) a deed of appointment and retirement dated 22 

January 1993 between Audax, the Issuer, L.D.C. Trustees Limited 

and the Trustee in terms of which the Trustee was appointed as the 

trustee of the 2021 Debentures; 

"Extraordinary Resolutions" the First Extraordinary Resolution and the Second Extraordinary 

Resolution; 

"FCA" the Financial Conduct Authority; 

"First Debenture Stock" £8,000,000 11 per cent. Debenture Stock 2021 constituted by 

Audax on 7 August 1986; 

"First Extraordinary 

Resolution" 

extraordinary resolution proposed to the holders of the 2021 

Debentures in terms of which the holders of the 2021 Debentures 

are being asked to assent to the supplementation of their powers 

that are exercisable by extraordinary resolution only to so provide 

them with the power to approve the substitution of the Issuer and 

release and re-grant of security in connection with such substitution 

as detailed in the section entitled "Reorganisation" in Part 7 of this 

Prospectus; 

"FSMA" the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended; 

"FTSE SPTR" FTSE All-Share Index share price total return; 

"HMRC" HM Revenue & Customs; 

"IFRS" International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union; 

"Issuer" Value and Income Trust plc, a company incorporated in Scotland with 

registered number SC050366 and having its registered office at Kintyre 

House 205, West George Street, Glasgow, Scotland G2 2LW; 

"Listing Rules" the listing rules made by the FCA under Part VI of FSMA; 

"London Stock Exchange" the London Stock Exchange plc; 

"Managers" OLIM Limited and OLIM Property Limited; 

"Member State" a member of the European Union; 

"Official List" the official list maintained by the FCA pursuant to Part VI of FSMA; 

"Prospectus Directive" EU Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended by EU Directive 2010/73/EU; 

"Prospectus Rules" the prospectus rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA; 

"PTCL" Prudential Trustee Company Limited, a company incorporated in 

England and Wales under registered number 01863305 and having its 

registered office at Laurence Pountney Hill, London EC4R 0HH; 

"Reorganisation" the reorganisation of the Issuer and its subsidiary, Audax, as detailed in 

the section entitled "Reorganisation" in Part 7 of this Prospectus;  
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"Rule 144A" Rule 144A of the Securities Act; 

"Second Debenture Stock" £7,000,000 11 per cent. Guaranteed Debenture Stock 2021 "A" 

constituted by Audax on 23 March 1988; 

"Second Extraordinary 

Resolution" 

extraordinary resolution proposed to the holders of the 2021 

Debentures, conditional upon the Deed of Amendment coming into 

effect in terms of which the holders of the 2021 Debentures are 

being asked to assent to the release of Audax from all and any of its 

obligations under the Existing Trust Deed and the assumption by 

the Issuer of the rights and obligations in substitution for, and to the 

exclusion of, Audax as detailed in the section entitled 

"Reorganisation" in Part 7 of this Prospectus; 

"Securities Act" the United States Securities Act of 1934, as amended; 

"SEDOL" Stock Exchange Daily Official List; 

"Specific Security" has the meaning given in the Trust Deed which is, in summary, the 

Property (as defined in the Trust Deed), Approved Investments (as 

defined in the Trust Deed), money and investments representing 

such money charged, or that ought to be charged, in favour of the 

Trustee by way of specific security for the payment of the principal 

moneys, premium (if any) and interest on the 2021 Debentures; 

"Trustee" The Prudential Assurance Company Limited, a company 

incorporated in England and Wales under registered number 

00015454 and having its registered office at Laurence Pountney 

Hill, London EC4R 0HH; 

"Trust Deed" together, (1) the Existing Trust Deed; (2) the Deed of Amendment 

and (3) the Deed of Substitution; 

"UK Listing Authority" the FCA in its capacity as competent authority under FSMA; 

"Uncharged Property Portfolio" the properties held by Audax which are not charged in favour of the 

Trustee being all properties held by Audax other than those 

comprised in the Charged Property Portfolio; 

"United Kingdom" or "UK" the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; 

"United States" or "US" the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of 

the United States of America and the District of Columbia; 

"VIT SPTR" the Issuer’s share price total return; 

"2021 Debentures" the £15,000,000 11% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2021 

constituted by Audax pursuant to the Existing Trust Deed and in 

respect of which the Issuer is to be substituted as debtor in terms of 

the Deed of Substitution; and 

"2026 Debentures" the £5,000,000 9 3/8 per cent Debenture Stock 2026 constituted by the 

Issuer pursuant to a trust deed dated 30 June 1995 and entered into 

between the Issuer and PTCL. 

  

 

Notes:  

1. All times referred to in this document are references to London time. 

2. All references in this document to 11 February 2014 should be read as references to the latest 

practicable date prior to the publication of this document.
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